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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 05 AUGUST 2020 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morning Ms Mokoena, good morning 

everybody.  

ADV MOLEFE:   Good morning Chai r  i t  is Molefe.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Molefe I  am sorry.    

ADV MOLEFE:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink I  am ageing why should I  get  your 

surname wrong af ter  you have been with the commission for  

three years.  

ADV MOLEFE:   Yes – al l  is forgiven Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   We – I  need to give the – my 

decision in the matter of  Mr Lungisa Fuzi le ’s appl icat ion for 

Leave to Cross-examine Mr Van Rooyen.  You are for the 

commission’s legal  team.  I  th ink there is appearance for 

both Mr Fuzi le and Mr Van Rooyen.   Is that  r ight? 

ADV MOLEFE:   That  is correct  Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay maybe they can just  place 

themselves on record – on record f rom where they are.  

ADV RAJAH:   Chai r  Hester Barata appearing for Mr Fuzi le.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  20 

ADV MOTHA:   Chair  Mr Motsai  Mamotsha [?]  f rom Lucky 

Thekisho At torneys.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MOTHA:   We are present ing the respondent  Mr Des Van 

Rooyen.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MOTHA:   We are here to note the judgment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MOTHA:   Thank you Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Thank you.   I  have prepared br ief  

reasons for the decision.   I  do not  propose to read the 

decision but  I  have not iced one or  two typographica l  errors 

which wi l l  need to be corrected in the course of  the morning.   

So the decision can be sent  to a l l  part ies at  some stage 

today.   I  wi l l  just  read out  the decision and the reasons are 10 

set  out  in the decision that  would be emai led to the – not  to  

the part ies.   I  have reached a conclusion that  i t  is not  in the 

best  interest  of  the funct ion of  the commission to grant  Mr 

Fuzi le leave to cross-examine Mr Van Rooyen that  is the 

conclusion I  have reached and the last  sentence or  l ine of  

the decision then reads:  

“ In al l  of  the ci rcumstances I  conclude that  Mr Fuzi le ’s  

appl icat ion fal ls to be dismissed accordingly i t  is dismissed. ”  

ADV MOLEFE:   Thank you Chai r.   Chair  may I  p lease take 

about f ive minutes of  an adjournment for Mr Pretor ius to 20 

come and address you.   I  bel ieve there are several  other 

matters he wi l l  be deal ing wi th unless he is ready to proceed 

at  th is current  moment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   He is si t t ing that  other  side.   I f  he needs 

f ive minutes,  we wi l l  do that .   Do you need f ive minutes Mr 
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Pretor ius? 

ADV PAUL JOSEPH PRETORIUS SC:   [Not  speaking into 

microphone].  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   Thank you.   I  wi l l  – otherwise 

those who need to be excused are excused.  

ADV MOLEFE:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Morning Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Chai r  as al luded to yesterday the 10 

wi tness set  down for today is  Mr Mokhetsi .   He is  

represented by at torney and counsel  who are here to make 

an appl icat ion before you and I  wi l l  respond af ter hearing Mr 

Fouche.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Counsel  i f  you can make your  

– move your appl icat ion f rom there or  move to the podium i f  

they sani t ise.    

ADV FOUCHE:   Thank you Chairperson 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes thank you.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Chai rperson I  appear on behal f  of  Mr 20 

Mokhetsi  in th is matter.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Mr Mokhets i  is present  he is not  running 

away.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay maybe start  by just  placing 
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yoursel f  on record.  

ADV FOUCHE:   My surname is Fouche.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   G V R 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Thank you Mr Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Chairperson Mr Mokhetsi  he cooperated up 

unt i l  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

ADV FOUCHE:   He is st i l l  cooperat ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   He f i led two aff idavi ts.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   One on the request  of  the commission af ter 

his f i rst  aff idavi t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   However,  he was represented by the state 

at torney of  Bloemfontein which – or  Free State up unt i l  – 

wel l  at  the end of  June there were some – some signs that  20 

they might  wi thdraw as at torneys for Mr Mokhetsi  and then 

that  was only conf i rmed in – on a let ter of  17 July.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   That  let ter was addressed to his Counsel  at  

that  stage Mr Tswyhele [?]  and Mr Tswyhele also was leaded 
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by what I  gathered f rom i t  by a Mr Hel lens SC.  So that  17 

July that  came to his at tent ion on the 20 July that  the state 

at torney def in i te ly wi thdrawing as his at torney of  record.  

Then on the 27 July the – a Mr Lambrechts being the 

invest igator of  the inquiry  of  the commission he sent  an 

emai l  to Mr Mokhetsi  in person making him aware of  today’s 

date the 5 August .   So that  is  today exact ly one week ago on 

a Wednesday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Af ter that  Mr Mokhetsi  obta ined legal  10 

representat ion f rom Mr Peyper in Bloemfontein and I  am on 

br ief  on behal f  of  Mr Peyper in  th is  matter.   So at  the 

moment Chairman I  am basical ly playing off  the bench.   I  am 

playing as a subst i tute player in the last  minutes of  th is 

game.  So I  am not  in a posi t ion to give any sound legal  

advice at  the moment to Mr Mokhetsi .   I  am not  aware of  any 

of  the background of  th is whole invest igat ion.   I  have 

consul ted only th is morning wi th Mr Mokhetsi  and he – he 

told me that  in his view he would l ike Mr Hel lens to  remain 

on br ief .   In his view Mr Hel lens is the person that  –  that  20 

assisted him throughout also in draf t ing the aff idavi ts .   So he 

is the – he is the Counsel  – the Senior Counsel  wi th the 

knowledge at  the moment and the current  legal  team simply 

does not  have the legal  knowledge to assist  h im suff ic ient ly.   

He is the HOD of  the Department.   I t  is important  evidence 
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that  wi l l  be led by him.  He is not  running Chai rperson.   He is 

more than wi l l ing to test i fy.   What we gathered also in  

respect  of  yesterday’s hearing and f rom the int roduct ion f rom 

Mr Pretor ius is that  there is  plenty of  documents involved in 

that .   Mr Mokhetsi  is  not  sure whether he has seen al l  of  

these documents.   We have been told th is morning that  those 

documents might  have been given to the state at torney of  

Bloemfontein we do not  know.  We certainly  do not  have 

them.  I  do not  – did not  have any sight  of  them.   My 

at torneys did not  have sight  of  them.   So we are in a very 10 

di ff icul t  posi t ion and we not  – Mr Mokhetsi  is not  in a 

posi t ion to  test i fy  today.   However he wi l l  cooperate,  he wi l l  

test i fy and we are simply seeking an indulgence for two 

weeks i f  possib le so that  those documents can be scrut in ised 

by him and i f  he has got  a new legal  team i f  Mr Hel lens does 

not  stay on board so that  they have the opportuni ty to – and 

he wi l l  have the proper opportuni ty to – wel l  h is evidence 

before the commission in a bet ter fashion I  suppose.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   I f  he had sight  of  those documents.   20 

Because he might  feel  l ike he is  being ambushed i f  new 

documents being int roduced to him and he might  not  be able 

to assist  th is commission as such in that .   So Chairperson in  

short  those are my submissions,  the reasons are basical ly – 

oh what I  have not  ment ioned is  that  Mr Hel lens tested 
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posi t ive for Covid seven to ten days ago i f  I  am not  

mistaken.   So he cannot be here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV FOUCHE:   In i t ia l ly when the state at torney was st i l l  on 

– wel l  was st i l l  the at torney for Mr Mokhetsi  and he agreed 

to be here dur ing this week he st i l l  had at torneys of  record 

being the state at torneys and Mr Hel lens would have been 

avai lab le and subsequent to that  let ter  that  came to his 

at tent ion on the 20t h Ju ly that  changed dramat ical ly and that  

is why we – we are not  in a posi t ion to proceed.  He is not  in  10 

a posi t ion to give evidence and we seek that  indulgence Mr 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Do you know whether the posi t ion is  

that  had Mr Hel lens not  tested posi t ive for Covid-19 they 

would have been able to proceed today? 

ADV FOUCHE:   What I  gathered in the consul tat ion this  

morning Chai rperson is that  he was avai lable.  

CHAIRPERSON:   He was avai lable? 

ADV FOUCHE:   That  is what I  gathered but  at  that  stage 

then the state at torney was also st i l l  h is at torney.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   And he was br iefed by them. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   I  cannot answer whether he wi l l  remain on 

br ief .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Even when he returns whether  he wi l l  be 

able to.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV FOUCHE:   But  in i t ia l ly when – when the dates of  th is  

week was given Mr Hel lens was according to my inst ruct ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Was avai lable.  

ADV FOUCHE:   He was avai lable.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Wel l  i f  I  postpone,  we look at  where – 

what date we can postpone but  we are pressed for t ime as 10 

everybody knows the [ indist inct ]  the commission.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Indeed so.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And we have started to arrange for what  

we cal l  evening sessions.   That  is an arrangement  in terms 

of  which dur ing the day there would be wi tness who g ives 

evidence dur ing the day or wi tnesses who give evidence 

dur ing the day and when we f in ish wi th them at  four o’c lock 

or  thereabout we start  wi th an evening – we start  our  

evening session so then maybe people that  we say come at  

four o’c lock you wi l l  g ive evidence dur ing the evening 20 

session.   Maybe f rom 4 to 7,  maybe f rom 4 to 8 that  k ind of  

th ing.   So I  am just  – I  just  want to say i f  I  do postpone there 

is that  possibi l i ty  that  he could be f i t ted into an evening 

session.  

ADV FOUCHE:   I  a lso… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  take i t  that  – that  should not  be a 

problem.  

ADV FOUCHE:   I  have al ready canvassed that  wi th  Mr 

Mokhetsi  and he is more than wi l l ing to even si t  in the 

evenings.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Okay no that  is  f ine.   Let  me 

hear what Mr Pretor ius has to say.  

ADV FOUCHE:   Thank you Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Chair  we d id in preparat ion for  th is 10 

morning’s appl icat ion obtain a ful l  h istory of  the 

engagements between the part ies.   I t  is not  necessary to go 

through i t  in  any detai l  because i t  is common cause that  the 

date today was a matter of  agreement between the part ies 

including legal  representat ives.   May I  just  say in re lat ion to  

the appl icat ion Mr Mokhetsi  is an important  wi tness.   He is  

an impl icated person and he is the account ing off icer in 

respect  of  th is pro ject  and I  th ink in those ci rcumstances 

Chair  i t  is important  that  we make every effort  to act  fa i r ly  

towards him so that  he may fai r ly account for the quest ions 20 

that  need to be put  to him in  relat ion to his  role as 

account ing off icer  in th is  matter.   Chair  there has been some 

discussion about the avai labi l i ty of  records.   In that  respect  I  

have just  taken inst ruct ions f rom the invest igator who 

interviewed Mr Mokhetsi  on the 30 October 2019 and the 



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 12 of 127 
 

t ranscr ipt  shows that  there was a fu l l  d iscussion between the 

invest igators and the legal  representat ives of  Mr Mokhetsi  in 

re lat ion to the avai labi l i ty of  documents – the documents that  

were shown to him and of  course many of  the re levant  

documents were in the possession of  Mr Mokhetsi  or  at  least  

under his control  and I  th ink that  is  an important  feature.   I t  

may be that  the – the bal l  has – or  the boot  is on the other  

foot  because we – we may require documents that  have not  

been given to us.   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   The hearing of  Mr Mokhetsi ’s 10 

evidence which was scheduled for today is postponed to a 

date to be determined and he has indicated his commitment 

to appear before the commission and to g ive evidence and to 

cooperate wi th the commission.   An at tempt wi l l  be made to 

t ry and communicate the date in  the next  few days so that  i t  

might  not  be two weeks as you asked for but  every at tempt 

wi l l  be made to not  delay the hearing of  his evidence unduly.   

But  you have indicated that  the Counsel  that  he would prefer  

to assist  h im tested posi t ive and about 7 or so days ago so 

one might  bare that  in mind in f ix ing the date.   So the 20 

appl icat ion for a postponement is  granted and the date wi l l  

be communicated to al l  concerned in the next  few days.   We 

are going to adjourn because Mr Mokhetsi  was going to be 

the only wi tness for the day i t  means we are not  s i t t ing for 

the next  few hours but  th is af ternoon at  f ive o’c lock the 
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commission wi l l  s i t  to hear the evidence of  Judge Makhubele 

as arranged a few days ago.   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good evening everybody.   I  do not  know i f  

i t  is  late af ternoon or i t  is  evening al ready but  – this late 

af ternoon/evening we have our f i rs t  evening session as the 

commission.   We announced last  week that  there wi l l  be 

evening sessions to t ry and make sure that  we use as much 10 

t ime as we can have to expedi te our  work and the hearing of  

evidence so that  we f in ish the commission’s work wi thin the 

t ime that  has been given to us.    

 This evening we are going to do what we were 

supposed to do on Monday but  could not  do in the af ternoon 

because of  certain reasons.  

 I  am going to hear the evidence of  Judge Makhubele.   

For now, I  have not  made a decision Judge Makhubele’s  

appl icat ion for “ the recusal  of  Advocate Soni  SC” and – but  

we wi l l  use this t ime to give Judge Makhubele an opportuni ty  20 

to present  her side of  the story but  also for me to put  certain 

quest ions to her.   The contemplat ion is that  there would st i l l  

be another day when an evidence leader can put  quest ions 

to Judge Makhubele once I  have ei ther decided on the so 

cal led recusal  appl icat ion or i f  I  have decided or found 
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somebody who can then lead the evidence for pract ical  

purposes.   So that  is why Mr Soni  is not  at  the podium today 

but  he is here and I  wi l l  cal l  upon him to assist  me with 

regard to  f inding certain document that  I  might  need at  a 

certain stage because he and his junior are maybe qui te  

fami l iar wi th the locat ion of  var ious documents in the bundle.   

So there wi l l  be two parts.  

1.  I  wi l l  a l low Judge Makhubele the opportuni ty to te l l  her  

side of  the story to a very large extent  I  wi l l  not  be 

asking her quest ions dur ing that  t ime.  I  am going to 10 

l imi t  that  to  th i r ty  minutes and she has indicated that  

she is happy wi th that  al locat ion of  t ime.  And 

thereaf ter I  wi l l  put  quest ions to  her  and then she wi l l  

deal  wi th the quest ions that  I  wi l l  put  to her.  

I  th ink for the purposes of  refreshing the memories of  the 

publ ic and whoever may be l istening i t  is important  to say 

that  Judge Makhubele’s  evidence fal ls under the 

invest igat ion that  the commission is doing in regard to  

var ious al legat ions of  corrupt ion and acts of  state capture at  

PRASA.  And Ms Martha Ngoye who is Head of  the Legal  20 

Department at  PRASA as wel l  as Mr Dingiswayo who is also 

in the same department at  PRASA gave evidence on a 

number of  matters but  thei r  evidence also included what they 

said was the role played by Judge Makhubele when she was 

chairperson of  the board of  PRASA from – towards the end 
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of  2017 to about  – i t  was end of  March of  mid-March 2018 

when she resigned.   The part  of  the al legat ions they made 

was that  Judge Makhubele came to PRASA and had a special  

interest  in the set t l ing of  certain  cases which had been 

brought by certain companies fal l ing under a group cal led – 

a group of  companies ca l led Siyaya Group.  That  company 

had al legedly entered into certain contracts wi th  PRASA and 

according to i t  – or  according to  those companies they had 

performed certain  services for PRASA and PRASA had fai led 

to pay them when i t  was obl iged to do so.   And those matters 10 

had been lodged in court  and PRASA had f i led i ts defences,  

i ts pleas but  ul t imately there was an agreement that  the 

matters should go to arbi t rat ion and they were going to  

arbi t rated.   So Ms Ngoye test i f ied that  af ter Judge 

Makhubele had been – started being Chai rperson of  the 

Board of  PRASA she insisted that  the claims by those 

speci f ic ent i t ies of  – fa l l ing under Siyaya should be set t led 

and that  her department was excluded.   And Mr Dingiswayo 

test i f ied that  on the 15 December 2017 she phoned – he 

phoned the at torneys who represented PRASA in those 20 

arbi t rat ion proceedings Mogashwa Attorneys in order to 

discuss the matter  but  was told by Mr Mogashwa that  the 

Chairperson of  the Board that  is Judge Makhubele had 

instructed that  the at torneys should not  speak to the legal  

department of  PRASA about those matters.    
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 The long and short  of  i t  is that  the matters were 

set t led and the al legat ions that  the at torneys for  Siyaya 

Group got  informat ion that  came from the Chairperson of  

PRASA, Judge Makhubele that  would not  be expected to 

have been sent  to  the other side and there was a quest ion of  

how i t  had come about that  PRASA’s opponents in the 

l i t igat ion on the arb i t rat ion got  informat ion that  they should 

not  have got .   In part icular i t  was informat ion about how 

PRASA’s at torneys had been inst ructed to set t le the matters.  

 Af ter the matters had been set t led Siyaya’s lawyers 10 

and PRASA’s lawyers made arrangements in terms of  which 

they appeared before the arbi t rator who is a ret i red Judge 

and the set t lement agreement was made an order of  court  so 

awards were made which requi red PRASA to make payments 

to the Siyaya Group and the amounts al together appeared to  

have been in the region of  about  R59 mi l l ion that  PRASA had 

to pay.  

 There was also in terest  that  was supposed to be paid 

and when PRASA did not  pay those amounts the Siyaya 

Group of  Companies approached the court  to  make the 20 

arbi t rat ion awards an order of  court .  

 By that  t ime the legal  department of  PRASA had been 

in touch wi th the newly appointed Minister of  Transport  

Doctor Nzimande who had – and had told  h im what they 

bel ieved was happening and the role that  they bel ieved 
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Judge Makhubele had played and he had inst ructed that  the 

legal  department  should take steps to t ry and in  effect  

reverse that  process.  

 So the arbi t rat ion awards had been made orders of  

court  but  subsequent ly a rescission appl icat ion was made 

and those were rescinded but  the legal  department had also 

to br ing an interdict  appl icat ion – urgent  interdict  appl icat ion 

to prevent  the sher i ff  f rom paying over  mi l l ions of  PRASA’s 

money to the Siyaya Group because in the meant ime Siyaya 

Group – the Siyaya Group had at tached money in PRASA’s 10 

bank account.    

So Ms Ngoye and her department instructed another  

law f i rm Bowmans in order to assist  wi th regard to that .   A lso 

there thei r  evidence was to the effect  that  there was some 

drama in court  because when comes and br iefed by 

Bowmans sought  to oppose i t  was found that  Counsel  for  

Siyaya Group was able to show the Judge a message that  

had been received according to them from Judge Makhubele 

which said that  the – lawyers represent ing PRASA which 

sought to oppose the Siyaya Group’s appl icat ion had no 20 

author i ty to do so and the Judge had ul t imately accepted 

that  and granted the order.   

But  ul t imate ly the rescission appl icat ion that  was 

brought by PRASA was successful  and those amounts were 

not  paid over.  
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So I  thought I  would summarise the g ist  of  the 

evidence given by them.  There are other deta i ls but  i t  is just  

ref reshing the memory of  the publ ic so that  also they can 

understand this evening’s ev idence in i ts proper context .  

As I  said what I  wi l l  do af ter Judge Makhubele has 

taken the oath I  wi l l  g ive her about  th i r ty minutes to  te l l  her 

side of  the story and af ter th i r ty minutes I  wi l l  then ask her 

quest ions.   Please administer the oath or aff i rmat ion.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your fu l l  names for the record.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Tintswalo Annah Makhubele.  10 

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ions to taking the 

prescr ibed oath? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Do you consider the oath to be 

binding on your conscience? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you swear that  the evidence you wi l l  g ive 

wi l l  be the t ruth;  the whole t ruth and nothing else but  the 

t ruth;  i f  so please ra ise your r ight  hand and say,  so help me 

God. 20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So help me God. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you very much Judge Makhubele.   

You now have th i r ty minutes to te l l  your side of  the story.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Thank you Chai rperson.   Before – 

before that  I  th ink I  need to place on record the issues about  
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the documents that  I  was provided on Monday.   They are 

behind me so even for two minutes i f  I  can deal  wi th that? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  th ink – I  th ink somebody can help 

you to br ing them to you.   Somebody wi l l  br ing them to your  

– in f ront  of  you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  do not  know what is the best  way to  

deal  wi th them.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or they might  put  them… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   What I  wanted to say maybe because 

they were handed over to me in a hurry there is one bundle 10 

which… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  can tel l  you that  what the way to 

dist inguish them you should look at  the spine of  each one.   

Each one is supposed to be wr i t ten Bundle 1 or Bundle 2 or 

Bundle 3 each one of  them. 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No I  – I  have.   What I  want  to say is  

that  one bundle which contains the documents of  one Lucky 

Montana nothing to do wi th me at  al l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  just  want to say . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . i t  is a whole f i le and. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  they can take that  away.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So when i t  means documents,  you 

must  not  say I  came and sto le i t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   [ laughs]    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   [ laughs]   Lucky Montana’s 

documents.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja-no,  I  th ink they must  . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I f  i t  can be removed f rom 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  can be removed f rom.. .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   From my side.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.   Ms Renate,  look for that  one and 

take i t  away.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  says,  “addi t ional  documents”.   

These are al l  Montana’s documents.   My story Chai r  is in  the 

bundle where I  responded to Advocate Botes’ a ff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.   I  was given my regist rar a 

message here.   Just  start  af resh please.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am told i t  is Bundle J.    

CHAIRPERSON:   And that  is the one that  has got  Mr Botes’ 

aff idavi t  and your aff idavi t  as wel l?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.   In. . .  there is an at tachment in 

my response to Advocate Botes’ aff idavi t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is a statement of  referral  of  a 

complaint  in the Pretor ia Bar.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am not  sure i f  i t  has been paginated 
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by. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  have seen i t .   I  have read i t .   So I  

am sure i t  is here.   I t  is . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is. . .  the paginat ion is the red 

stamp.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Actual ly,  normal ly we use the red but  I  

th ink where you see the red and the black,  fo l low the black 

one at  the. . .  i t  is rather top lef t  of  each page.  Mr Soni ,  that  

is correct ,  hey? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  th ink i t  is the . . . [ indist inct ]  [d ip in 10 

recording]  The f lag is. . .  there are so many f lags,  same 

numbers but  I  see . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  see . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   SS19-TAM.-46.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  when you refer to the page, then you 

can leave out  SS19 and TAM and the zero.   You can just  say 

43,  i f  i t  is . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   45.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  is i t  45? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So that  is 45.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  but  that  is red.   Let  us t ry and. . .  what  

is the black number? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The black. . .  I  do not  know whether i t  

is me who must be BB? 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  I  th ink I  am going to f ind 45 now.   
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Oh,  the b lack is 147.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  put . . .  swi tch on your mic f rom the. . .  

Mr Soni .  

ADV SONI SC :   Page 146.  

CHAIRPERSON:   One-forty. . .  the black 146? 

ADV SONI SC :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay page 146.   Okay.   I  have got  that .   

But  that  is the last  page,  hey?  Where does i t . . .  at  what page 

does i t  start?  Can you f ind that  Judge Makhubele? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is 147.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  starts at . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  starts at  147.  

CHAIRPERSON:   147?  Oh, okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh, your “statement of  referra l” .   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  okay page 147.   That  is the black 147.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  Chai r.   Remember I  have said,  I  

have not  provided a sworn statement.   I  am st i l l  going to do 

that .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . the essence of  the statement is 

what is in here.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And as I  have indicated,  I  wi l l  have 

to make certain addi t ions . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . .based on the oral  test imony of  Ms 

Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo which I  have not  considered.   I  

have been given t ranscr ipts yesterday at  night .   I  th ink 

around seven or  eight .   So I . . .  f rom what I  could quickly 

glean out ,  I  need to f i le a proper sworn statement.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  okay.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So today Chair  the 30-minutes may 

not  even be enough to deal  the. . .  the main evidence or  

al legat ions against  me are by Ms Ngoye.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  wi l l  st i l l  deal  wi th Mr Mogashoa 

and Mr Botes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Mr Achmat.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And Mr Madimpe.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  let  us see how much you have been 

able to cover by 30-minutes and take i t  f rom there.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  the other th ing. . .  remember 

Chai r,  now I  am at torney and cl ient .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And [ laughs]   I  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   [ laughs]   And counsel .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And counsel  and everything.   And 

yesterday,  I  wrote a let ter which I  am not . . .  I  do not  even 

think i t  has reached you.    

 Where. . .  because I  wanted to understand exact ly what  

are the al legat ions here that  you are invest igat ing because 

remember,  everything comes f rom the aff idavi t  that  Ms 

Ngoye f i led at  Pretor ia High Court  and which I  have here.  

 So the complainants here have f i led a complaint  at  the 10 

JCC but  they have added other th ings which I  want to be 

certain that  here . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  here you are expected to deal  wi th 

the wi tnesses’ aff idavi t  as f i led here.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   As f i led here? 

CHAIRPERSON:   As f i led here,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because there is a . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Which you have got .   20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   There is  confusion,  even in the 

publ ic domain that . . .  there are so many al legat ions.   Nothing 

to do,  the set t lement of  thei r  c la ims which I  bel ieve that  is  

what I  must  respond to.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m-h’m-h’m.  



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 25 of 127 
 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Here before you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja-no,  for our purposes,  you look at  the 

aff idavi ts that  they have f i led here . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .which have been given to you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Thank you.   In th is statement 148. . .  

147,  I  have summarised. . .  I  was. . .  I  wrote this statement wi th  

reference to the aff idavi t  that  Ms Ngoye f i led in. . .  dated 

3 Apri l  2018 in the appl icat ion where PRASA was seeking to  

interdict  the Sheri ff  f rom execut ing the Wri t .  10 

 So th is statement is an answer,  basical ly,  to th is 

aff idavi t .   I  see there are compla ints here.   They t r ied to 

abr idge i t  a b i t  but  here I  deal t  wi th  the ci rcumstances under 

which those claims were set t led.  

 And basical ly,  I  denied that . . .  or let  me start  here.   I  had 

an opportuni ty yesterday to look at  Ms Ngoye’s complete 

aff idavi t  in. . .  that  she had f i led here,  deal ing wi th everyone 

and every issue.  

 And I  made notes because I  was asking mysel f  what  

exact ly is her role  and what is she saying.    20 

 And I  see she says in  paragraph twenty. . .  paragraph 7 of  

the aff idavi t  before you Chair  that  the leaders in PRASA 

have been found want ing in var ious reports.  

 She referred to  the reports of  the Audi tor General ,  

Publ ic Protector,  Nat ional  Treasury.    And in  paragraph 25 
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ta lk ing about Siyaya matters.    

 She said that  i t  is  not  her intent ion to persuade this 

Commission about the meri ts of  PRASA’s . . . [ indist inct ]   but  

she just  wants to  show the length,  of ten improper,  to which 

people at  PRASA went out  to ensure that  PRASA,  i t  pays 

money that  is not  due.  

 And one of  those people that  she descr ibes,  I  be l ieve,  i t  

is me.  And that  is  where i t  starts.   So f i rst ly,  I  deny that  I  am 

one of  the people who have been found want ing in any report  

of  the . . . [ indist inct ] ,  the AG, Nat ional  Treasury,  Publ ic  10 

Protector or any court  of  law.  

 So I  am not  one of  those people.   There is no one who 

has ever found me gui l ty or made any f indings against  me in 

re lat ion to wrongdoings at  PRASA.  That  is the f i rst  

statement I  am making Chai rperson. 

 And secondly,  I  deny because she might  have deleted 

her in i t ia l  evidence but  the in i t ia l  evidence in the aff idavi t  

before court  was that  the set t lements were done in secrecy.   

The legal  sect ion which she was heading was not  consul ted 

and actual ly no one was consul ted.   That  was the basis for 20 

her complaint .  

 And most important ly,  that  the set t lement was done in 

furtherance of  what she refers to as a quest ionable 

re lat ionship between me and the lawyers who were 

represent ing Siyaya in the l iquidat ion appl icat ion.  
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 So in  th is  Chai rperson,  I  h ighl ight  the ci rcumstances.   I  

wi l l  not  deal  wi th  how I  was appointed through the PRASA 

Board but  I  wi l l  deal  wi th. . .  wel l ,  the ci rcumstances under 

which the claim was set t led and i t  starts  at  paragraph 9 of  

th is statement.   That  wi l l  be your page 151.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay that  is st i l l . . .  that  is page 151 

of  Bundle J.   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  you may cont inue.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Paragraph 9 wi th  i ts sub-paragraphs 10 

and there are annexures Chairperson which,  unfortunately. . .  

I  d id send the annexures to the legal  team. 

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  I  see they are not  been 

paginated.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  but  because you. . .   I  mean, there 

is the overal l  paginat ion which is the black numbers 

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .at  the top.   You can use that .   But  wi th 20 

reference to your own statement ,  there are. . .  we have 

numbered the paragraphs.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So you can refer to the number. . .  the 

paragraph numbers as wel l .  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  when.. .  sorry,  when I  use the 

word paginated,  I  mean the annexures are not  part  of  the 

record.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  okay 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So Chairperson wi l l  not  be able today 

to see the documents I  am referr ing to.   For instance, when I  

say:  

“The l iquidators approached me, f i rst  through 

Advocate Botes and then they wrote a let ter to me.. . ”  

 Chairperson wi l l  not  be able to see that  let ter because I  10 

do not  know i f  i t  is part  of . . .  yes,  th is let ter . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  have got  some . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The let ter . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .annexures.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The let ter is part .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  there are a lot  which are not  part  

but  there are a few that  are part  but  when I  come back 

Chairperson,  I  th ink we wi l l  have a l l  the annexures but  the 

let ter of  the l iquidators is in th is . . . [ indist inct ]  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i f  you do have those annexures which 

are not  here,  in  your possession at  the moment,  there may 

be an opportuni ty  for copies to be paid.   But  i f  you do not  

have them, then next  t ime we can look at  them.   Do you have 

them by any chance with you? 
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  I . . .  I  d id send them to Ms 

Renata but  I  do not  know i f  she compi led a bundle of  those 

annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  let  me ask.   Mr Soni ,  you know about 

any other annexures to  statement referr ing the complaint  to  

the bar counci l?   I t  may be that  they were not  included 

because they might  not  have been seen as relevant  for our 

purposes.   Yes? 

ADV SONI SC :   That  given the l imi ted nature of  the 

al legat ion.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SONI SC :   And this was an a l legat ion against  Mr Bal tac. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SONI SC :   We t r ied to respect  the . . . [ indist inct ]  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   What you consider to be important .    

ADV SONI SC :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  would they be avai lable wi thin the 

legal  team?  So I  guess they would be avai lable even i f  we 

are not  here?  20 

ADV SONI SC :   I  am sure they would be avai lable.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay,  okay.   Al r ight .   I  th ink 

arrangements wi l l  be made i f  you th ink they are relevant .   As 

Mr Soni  says,  they t ry to say,  “Look,  what is real ly important  

for  purposes of  the Commission’s own invest igat ion 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   As opposed to the bar  counci l ’s 

invest igat ion.   I f  they are relevant ,  they can be obtained.   So 

for next  t ime, you can refer to them.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  for my purpose they are 

re levant  because those are internal  PRASA document.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  see Ms Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo 

only at tached my memorandum. 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  then there are documents that  

were generated wi thin the board and f rom the secretary.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Relat ing to  what I  am talking about 

here.   For instance,  I  wi l l  need to refer to the delegat ion of 

author i ty which Chairperson,  obviously,  need to see.   And 

the relevance of  i t  is  that  I  see. . .  I  saw Ms Ngoye at tached a 

delegat ion of  author i ty.  

 But  my submission is that  is not  what was given to the 20 

board and I  have proof  of  what was given to the board.   So 

everything that  I  have sent  is relevant  but  I  wi l l  ensure that  I  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   You,  you. . .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  compi le the bundle mysel f .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay that  is f ine.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And when I  g ive a sworn statement.  

CHAIRPERSON:   For next  t ime.  Okay.   Al r ight .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  in the f i rst  few paragraphs I  deal  

wi th thei r  approaches.   And you remember Chai r,  that  there 

was an issue between me.. .  Mr Botes came here and 

test i f ied that  I  cal led him and then our  phones were 

subjected to invest igat ions.  

 There is a report  f rom the invest igat ion. . .  that  i t  is part  

of  the bundles here.   So Chai r,  that  matter must  be set t led.   10 

The report  of  the invest igator shows that . . .  wel l ,  obviously,  

he cannot say wi th certainty but  he says i t  is probable based 

on what he has analysed.  

 I t  is probable that  Advocate Botes is the one who 

contacted me f i rst .  

CHAIRPERSON:   F i rst? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Remember,  he came here and made 

a lot  of  noise that  I  cal led him.  So that  issue Chai r,  you wi l l  20 

be referred to the relevant  report  that  i t  is set t led,  he is the 

one who cal led me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  he did test i fy that  you cal led her  

f i rst .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   He cal led him, yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.   There is a report  f rom the 

invest igator here that  that  should set t le the issue.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Unless Advocate Botes would l ike to  

take i t  further.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  th ink what we wi l l . . .  what  the 

Commission’s legal  team or invest igators wi l l  do is,  i f  they 

have not  al ready done, is to make that  report  avai lable to  

him for his comments.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And you wi l l  be in formed or send a copy of  

his comments as wel l .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So for now,  I  stand by my paragraph 

9.1 that  he cal led me f i rst  in the week. . .  I  said in the second 

week of  November 2017 forward. . .  fo l lowed by a let ter.   The 

let ter is f rom his at torneys.    

 And then Advocate Botes came in person to PRASA 

because I  said to  him, I  cannot discuss wi th h im anywhere 

else other than at  PRASA.  At  the t ime I  was st i l l  a member 20 

of  the bar.   So my chambers were st i l l  open.    

 But  I  said,  “Let  us meet. ”   Rather,  “Meet at  PRASA than 

anywhere because as far as I  am concerned,  what you are 

tel l ing me requi res a t ransparent  engagement  involving 

everyone including my col leagues at  the board.   And the then 
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act ing Group Secretary who is Mr Zide.    

 He then came.  The date was,  I  th ink in my statement I  

say 13t h but  looking at  my notes,  the date there should be 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Was i t  not  the 14t h? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is 14t h.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   14t h of  November 2017.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The date was 2017,  November.   He 10 

found with  Mr Zide because on that  day,  I  was in  severa l  

meet ings.   That  is  why I  was at  PRASA.  I  said to him when 

he comes, I  wi l l  take t ime off  and took to him.  

 But  by the t ime he came, he had al ready told me what  

he. . .  what i t  was al l  about  which was basical ly what is in 

emai l  exchange between h im and Mr Madimpe Mogashoa,  

that  the part ies involved in l i t igat ion.    

 There were those claims.   Several  case number but  

which were then consol idated because there is an arb i t rat ion 

clause.  20 

 My understanding is,  i t  was not  s imple that  there is  a. . .  

we agreed to go on arb i t rat ion.   There is an arbi t rat ion 

clause.   PRASA took a point  that  you cannot proceed by way 

of  act ion because there is an arbi t rat ion clause.  

 And then there was an agreement to wi thdraw and go to  
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arbi t rat ion.   And in the meant ime, as Chai r. . .  I  do not  

know.. . .   I  cannot remember i f  Chai r  has summarised this.  

 But  then in the meant ime, the part  or of  the claimants 

went on vo luntar i ly l iquidat ion.   And then there was a cal l . . .  

an appl icat ion to go. . .  to appoint  a  commissioner to conduct  

an inqui ry.  

 The inqui ry,  when I  went to PRASA, had al ready been 

concluded.   There was an inter im report  of  the commissioner.   

His name is Mr Kruger.   He had issued an inter im report .  

 So when Mr Botes came to PRASA, he came with that  10 

inter im report  and correspondence between him and Mr 

Madimpe Mogashoa.  

 I  do not  have a lawyer next  to me Chairperson.   I  wanted 

to refer to the . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   To the report? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   To the report .   You. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Wel l ,  Mr Soni  is able to assist  wi th  

the work.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So the part  of  the l iquid. . .  of  the 

. . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  the l iquidator? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Of  the. . .  not  the l iquidator.   Of  the 

commissioner.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  the commissioner.   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:   What is the page?  Where do you f ind 

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is in the statement of  Mr Botes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  hang on.   Mr Soni  might  be able to  

just  te l l  us what page to f ind i t .  

ADV SONI SC :   I t  is page 28 as an annexure to . . . [ indist inct ]  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   What vo lume f i rst?  What bundle? 

ADV SONI SC :   Oh,  sorry.   The Bundle is J Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bundle J.   And what b lack number? 10 

ADV SONI SC :   Page 28.   I t  is only that  number Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  okay.   What is  i t . . .  where do we f ind i t?  

ADV SONI SC :   I t  is page 28.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes,  I  found i t .   In my bundle,  i t  is J.   

The black number J/ -065.   The red number is 28.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Soni ,  you said i t  is page 

twenty. . .?  

ADV SONI SC :   I t  is page 28 on the r ight -hand side,  the red.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The red one? 

ADV SONI SC :   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.   We need to be consisted i f  we use the 

black ones.   [ laughs]    

ADV SONI SC :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  you said there was no black number 

on the page? 
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ADV SONI SC :   No,  on mine. . .  but  apparent ly yours has i t  

and . . . [ indist inct ]  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  ja mine does have.  

ADV SONI SC :   And i f  I  can just  explain what happened 

here? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV SONI SC :   The bundles were prepared wi th the. . .  wi th  

Judge Makhubele’s complaint  put  at  the top.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

ADV SONI SC :   And so the pages had to be renumbered.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SONI SC :   Because Mr Botes gave evidence f i rs t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay that  is f ine.  

ADV SONI SC :   So that  is why the number. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SONI SC :   And then what we did is,  we took Judge 

Makhubele’s complaint  which he has been referr ing to and 

we have put  i t  as part  of  the aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  that  is f ine.   The commissioner ’s  

inter im report  is at  page 65 in terms of  the black numbers.   20 

Yes,  Judge Makhubele we are there.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Are you there Chai rperson? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.   So that  is the commissioner ’s  

inter im report  of  the inqui ry in terms of  Sect ion 417(1) and 
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418(2) of  the Companies Act  61 of  1973 read wi th I tem 9,  

305(?) of  the Companies Act  71 of  2008.  

 And i t  g ives a br ief  summary of  the evidence that  he 

explains in paragraph 1,  his appointment,  the company 

resolut ion and that  he has read an inqui ry on 28 and 

31 August  2017.  

 And then paragraph 3,  who was represent ing who.  Mr 

Botes was represent ing . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  th ink you might  wish to just  go 

st raight  to the real  issues you wanted . . . [ intervenes]   10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   To the real  issues . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .you wanted to draw my at tent ion to.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The other stuff ,  I  can read for mysel f .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.   Maybe paragraph. . .  the 

representat ion for  PRASA is indicated as mister. . .  the head 

counci l ,  Mr Tsatsawane and the inst ruct ing at torney was Mr 

Madiwe(?).  

 The wi tnesses Chai rperson are in paragraph 4.   I t  is. . .  

there are s ix wi tnesses.   The relevance of  th is paragraph is 20 

because I  ment ioned somewhere that  I  consul ted wi th these 

wi tnesses.  

 And these are the wi tnesses who were st i l l  employed at  

PRASA.  And that  wi l l  be your Mr S Bal tac and Mr 

. . . [ indist inct ]  And then there are those who had been issued 
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wi th subpoenas but  not  yet  appeared.  

 I  th ink they are. . .  I  wi l l  ta lk about  them.  Maybe there 

are two or three.   But  in th is l ist ,  the ones that  were st i l l  at  

PRASA is Mr Bal tac and mister. . .  the one in 4.4.  

 So I  never had any consul tat ion or  deal ings wi th people 

who are no longer at  PRASA.  That  is the point  I  want  to  

make.  

 And then the summary of  the evidence of  each wi tness.   

I  am not  sure i f  Chairperson has al ready. . .  a l ready has this  

evidence on record so that  I  do not  repeat  i t  but  maybe 10 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  you can make the. . .  what you consider 

to be important  features . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .of  what he says for your case.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Then maybe the only. . .  the wi tnesses 

that  I  consul ted w i th.   The evidence of  Mr Sorin  Bal tac.   Mr 

Sorin Bal tac,  in addi t ion to th is,  wrote a report  to me which I  

wi l l  g ive Chairperson.    

 I  saw i t  somewhere in the annexures in the court  20 

appl icat ion but  I  do not  th ink i t  has been annexed in the 

documents  before you.  

 So in the addi t ion to th is,  Mr Bal tac gives. . .  a lso 

provided a repor t .   And his evidence. . .  he was asked to 

test i fy.   He says he is a general  manager signal l ing and 
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te lecommunicat ion.  

 And he was asked to test i fy about  the project ,  

indicated the technical  assistance for supervision of  nat ional  

s ignal l ing project  stage 1,  phases 1 to 5 agreement and then  

he conf i rmed the  agreement  en tered in to  be tween PRASA 

and the  company  in  l iqu ida t ion  on  tha t  31  May 2011 and 

ind ica tes  the  amount  jus t  above 4  m i l l ion .   He conf i rmed he  

was persona l ly  invo l ved and had persona l  knowledge o f  the 

way the  cont rac t  was imp lemented  and executed.   

 The reason I  wan t  th is  on  record ,  Cha i r,  i s  because 10 

the  issues ra ised  are  tha t  I  sa id  there  were  concess ions by  

the  w i tnesses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  tha t  i s  no t  me,  i t  i s  what  the  

repor t  i s  say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  th ink  what  –  I  th ink  my 

unders tand ing  is  tha t  what  has been sa id  i s  tha t  you sa id  

tha t  in  te rms o f  the  in te r im repor t  i t  i s  sa id  tha t  they made 

major  concess ions.   I  thought  tha t  was what  was sa id  bu t  

you can dea l  w i th  i t  and respond to  i t  i f  you  never  sa id  – i f  20 

a l l  you  sa id  was,  I  am re ly ing  on  the  repor t  because i t  sa id  

they had major  concess ions,  tha t  is  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  you  can use the  word  

measure  or  concess ions,  there  amount  wou ld  probab ly  no t  

be  rea l l y  an  issue,  Cha i r,  because  what  i s  be ing  contended  
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i s  tha t  the  w i tnesses never  cons idered anyth ing .   So i t  i s  a  

–  when issues  are  concess ion  are  be ing  met  i t  i s  

someth ing  very  s t range.   But ,  you  know,  Eng l ish  i s  no t  my  

f i rs t  language bu t  when I  see the  word  conf i rm and  then I  

a lso  consu l t  w i th  the  ve ry  same person and ask h im  look a t  

th is  repor t ,  they  say you –  th i s  i s  what  you to ld  the 

Commiss ioner,  d id  you rea l l y  te l l  the  Commiss ioner  what  i s  

wr i t ten  he re?  And the  person says  yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  sa id .    

 And the  pe rson wr i tes  as  even a  separa te  repor t  to  

you say ing  yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  sa id  and I  am not  ta lk ing  10 

about  an  i l l i t e ra te  –  le t  me not  use  the  word  i l l i t e ra te ,  I  am 

not  ta lk ing  about  a  person who is  no t  i l l i t e ra te ,  who may 

say maybe the  repor t  was not  –  I  do  no t  know what  i s  

wr i t ten ,  i t  i s  no t  what  I  sa id ,  bu t  i t  i s  a  person tha t  ac tua l l y  

conf i rms what  i s  in  th is  repor t ,  Cha i rperson,  so  I  w i l l  g ive  

Mr  Son i ’s  separa te  s ta tement  f rom th is ,  what  the  

Commiss ioner  has wr i t ten  as  we l l  as  a f te r  I  have 

t ranscr ibed my notes  tha t  these a re  the  da tes  bu t  to  me,  

these are  concess ions,  whethe r  you want  to  c lass i f y  them 

as majo r,  m ino r,  bu t  they go  to  the  hear t  o f  the  issues tha t  20 

was asked to  dea l  w i th ,  so… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  was look ing  a t  paragraph 5  where  

i t  ta lks  about  Ba l tac ,  5 .1 .7  a t  page 67,  i f  you  look  a t  the  

b lack  numbers .   Is  tha t  where  you are  as  we l l?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    They tes t i f ied  about  –  to  I  th ink 
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…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because I  thought  you were  ta lk ing  

about  Mr  Ba l tac ’s… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  he  s ta r ts  a t  page 29,  the  

bo t tom o f  29 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  i t  says  –  i t  says  tha t  -  5 .1 .2 :  

Mr  Ba l tac  conf i rmed tha t  he  was  fami l ia r  w i th  the  

above ag reement  wh ich  was entered in to  and  

conc luded between PRASA and  the  company in  

l iqu ida t ion  on  the  31  May 2011 wh ich  was fo r  10 

techn ica l  ass is tance fo r  the  superv is ion  o f  na t iona l  

re -s igna l l ing  pro jec t ,  s tage 1 ,  th is  i s  1  to  5 ,  and tha t  

the  va lue  o f  the  cont rac t  was R54 537 600.  

Then 5 .1 .3 :  

“He fu r ther  con f i rmed tha t  he  was persona l l y  

invo l ved and had persona l  knowledge o f  the  way the  

cont rac t  was imp lemented and executed and tha t  

acco rd ing  to  h is  knowledge the  company had  

compl ied  w i th  the  cond i t ions  o f  the  cont rac t .   Mr  

Ba l tac  a lso  sa id  tha t  he  had no reason to  be l ieve  20 

tha t  the  company  had not  compl ied  w i th  the  te rms  

o f  the  cont rac t  acco rd ing  to  the  company.   The  

amount  ou ts tand ing  in  te rms o f  the  cont rac t  i s  

R15 319 491.01.   Mr  Ba l tac  cou ld  no t  conf i rm or  

deny tha t  th is  f igure  was accura te  and ag reed to  
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consu l t  PRASA’s  records  to  conf i rm what  was due in  

te rms o f  the  cont rac t  and then never  –  and re fer red  

back to  the  l iqu ida tors  and the  Commiss ion  w i th  the  

cor rec t  amount .   The 8  September  2007 I  rece ived a  

le t te r  f rom PRASA’s  a t to rneys in  wh ich  they sa id  

tha t  the i r  c l ien ts  were  invest iga t i ng  the  mat te r  and 

tha t  they wou ld  as  soon as  poss ib le  make the i r  

f ind ings ava i lab le  to  the  Commiss ion . ”  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  so  subsequent  to  th is ,  the 

repor t  tha t  I  w i l l  g ive ,  Cha i rpe rson,  wh ich  Mr  Mogashoa  10 

a lso  acknowledged hav ing  rece ived was Mr  Ba l tac  was  

repor t ing  back to  the  Commiss ion ,  the  Commiss ioner  to  say  

remember  in  tha t  paragraph the  on ly  5 .1 .5 ,  the  on ly  i ssue  

was the  amount ,  wh ich  he  sa id  he  was tasked to  do  and  

invest iga te  the  amount  o f  the  invo ice .    

 Then in  the  repor t ,  tha t  I  w i l l  g ive  you,  Cha i rperson,  

he  was conf i rm ing tha t  he  has made invest iga t ions and  

then the  amount ,  the  cor rec t  amount  i s  th is  and I  th ink  i t  i s  

less  than th is  15  m i l l ion  i f  my memory  serves me we l l .   So 

h is  task  was to  conf i rm the  amoun t  because the  c la im was 20 

15 mi l l ion  and Mr  Son ic  was not  cer ta in  and then he came 

back w i th  a  repor t  tha t  says no ,  i t  i s  no t  15  m i l l ion  i t  i s  less  

than tha t ,  so  tha t  i s  w i th  regard  to  th is  agreement  and then 

he a l so  tes t i f ied  about  the  o the r  agreement  i t  is  t i t led  

Consu l tancy Agreement  fo r  Techn ica l  Adv ise r  fo r  t he  New 
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D ig i ta l  Ra i lway  S igna l l ing  Un i t ,  work  cont rac t  HO-

in f ra (E)301/01/2013.    

In  the  summons,  in  the  p lead ings you w i l l  see  wh ich  

c la im re la tes  to  wh ich  cont rac t .   There  is  a  cont rac t  

number.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And tha t  is  how they are  ident i f ied .  

So he a lso  –  he  tes t i f ied  and then he –  5 .1 .8 ,  he  was 

fami l ia r  w i th  the  agreement  and accord ing  to  my 

unders tand ing  he  was someone who can ca l l  the  superv i so r  10 

when –  du r ing  imp lementa t ion  s tage he w i l l  be  the  person 

oversee ing  the  work .   And then 5 .1 .8  he  says:  

“The Commiss ioner  says i t  appears  the  amount  due  

in  respect  o f  agreement  wou ld  no t  agreed upon by  

the  pa r t ies  to  the  cont rac t  so  the  company 

rep resented by  Mabunda i t s  fo rmer  CEO and Mr  

Ba l tac  ag reed to  meet  to  t ry  and ca lcu la te  the  

amount  wh ich  is  due and payab le  to  the  company  

and to  submi t  the i r  answer  to  the  Commiss ion  and  

the i r  l i qu ida to rs  by  11  September  2017. ”  20 

And then the  next  page,  5 .1 .9 :  

“On the  6  September  the  Commiss ioner  rece ived a  

le t te r  by  emai l  f rom PRASA’s  a t to rneys addressed  

to  the  Commiss ioner  and the  l iqu ida tor ’s  

rep resenta t i ve  Mr  Boshoff  in  wh ich  they conf i rmed  
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tha t  c l ien t  Mr  Ba l tac  was requested to  engage w i th  

Mr  Mabunda to  ca lcu la te  the  amount  wh ich  is  due in  

te rms o f  the  cont rac t  tha t  number. ”  

So you can see there ,  Cha i rpe rson,  tha t  the  par t ies  are  in  

agreement  about  what  ou ts tand ing  issues they must  s t i l l  

i nvest iga te  and I  w i l l  l ook  in  my records bu t  I  th ink  th is  

le t te r  i s  in  some bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  tha t  was the  issue and  in  the 

a foresa id  le t te r  they sa id  tha t :  10 

“The cont rac t  was w i th  a  company ca l led  S iyaya 

Ra i l  So lu t ions and not  w i th  S iyaya Consu l t ing  

Eng ineers ,  the  company wh ich  is  the  sub jec t  o f  the  

Commiss ion  o f  Inqu i ry.   Accord ing l y,  they  say tha t  i t  

i s  no t  c lea r  why  the i r  c l ien t  has  been ca l led  to  

tes t i f y  about  the  a f fa i rs  o f  S iyaya wh ich  has no  l ink  

w i th  the  company wh ich  is  the  sub jec t  o f  the  

inqu i ry.   In  the  c i rcumstances i t  wou ld ,  in  my v iew,  

be  appropr ia te  to  have the  contents  o f  the  a foresa id  

le t te r  ra ised before  the  Commiss ion  when i t  20 

commences. ”  

Cha i rperson w i l l  see  la te r  on  tha t  there  were  some c la ims  

wh ich  were  no t  se t t led .   One,  i f  I  remember  was because i t  

was not  par t  o f  the  l iqu ida t ion  inqu i ry  o f  inso l vency  inqu i ry  

and the  o the r  one tha t  was not  se t t led  was because the re  
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were  ou ts tand ing  issues tha t  cou ld  no t  be  reso lved and I  

th ink  i t  i s  a  c la im tha t  invo lved the  w i tnesses tha t  I  sa id  

were  no t  longer  a t  PRASA,  Mr  Montana and Mr  [ ind is t inc t ]  

26.28  and I  th ink ,  so  tha t  c la im  was not  se t t led  fo r  the 

s imp le  reason  tha t  there  were  issues tha t  no  

one…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  see  30 minutes  has exp i red  bu t  I  w i l l  

a l low you a  b i t  more  t ime to  cont inue and then I  w i l l  s ta r t  

your  quest ions.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Cha i rperson,  do  you in tend to  10 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  I  w i l l  a l low you to  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Do you in tend to  ad jou rn  what  

t ime?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  wou ld  l i ke  us  to  cont inue and see how 

fa r  we have gone by  seven but  I  th ink  we w i l l  no t  leave  

before  seven so  we might  go  to  e igh t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because th is ,  Cha i rperson,  

a l though I  sa id  t he  issues I  d ive r ted  f rom tha t  s ta tement ,  

we dea l  w i th  the  ev idence.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  when I  ask  you quest ions some o f  

the  issues you w i l l  be  ab le  to  dea l  w i th .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   But  I  w i l l  l e t  you cont inue now fo r  

another  ten  m inutes .    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  tha t  is  Mr  Ba l tac  and I  –  the 

next  one i s  –  I  th ink  he  tes t i f ies  aga in  somewhere  bu t  

maybe the  best  p lace  where  I  can te l l  Cha i rpe rson fo r  

cer ta in ty  i s  when  I  read some o f  – maybe le t  us  go  to  page  

35.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We are  look ing  a t  the  red  numbers?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The red  number,  tha t  i s  the… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  i s  Mr  Babuwe(? )  28.49 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  page 72 on the  b lack  numbers ,  

35  on  the  red  numbers ,  yes .   You want  to  d raw to  my 

a t ten t ion  there?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The ev idence o f  Mr  Babuwe is  

parag raph 5 .4 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    We sa t  w i th  th is  w i tness fo r  a  very  

long t ime t ry ing  to  unpack the  issues he re  and i f  Cha i r  can  

a l low me,  I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  i t  in  my s ta tement .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  maybe  I  can leave th is  fo r  now,  

the  repor t ,  bu t  the  next  document  tha t  Mr  Botes  brought  

was page 39 wh ich  is  the  cor respondence o r  emai l  

communica t ion  be tween h im and Mr  Mad impi  where  they  
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were  remind ing  each o the r  abou t  what  happened  a t  the 

inqu i ry  and I  th ink  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  page is  tha t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  page –  the  red  number  i s  39 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Yes,  cont inue?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The  emai l  o f  th is  page  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And tha t  i s  an  emai l  f rom Mr  Botes  to  Mr  

Mogashoa who was the  –  Mr  Botes  was counse l  fo r  the  

l iqu ida to rs  and Mr  Mogashoa was PRASA’s  a t to rney.   What  10 

do  you want  to  d raw to  my a t ten t ion  in  tha t  emai l?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Th is  –  f i r s t l y,  in  my answer  to  h is  

s ta tement  I  sa id  he  is  ac tua l l y  –  Mr  Botes  is  ac tua l l y  –  was 

ac tua l l y  the  one who was pers i s ten t  tha t  the  c la ims must  

be  se t t led  because even befo re  I  went  the  pa r t ies  were  

d iscuss ing  tha t  look ,  there  is  no th ing  more  to  go  to  

a rb i t ra t ion  fo r.   Th is  emai l  i s  6  September  and he was 

ac tua l l y  jus t  te l l ing  Mr  Mogashoa  and he was remind ing  

h im about  the  ev idence o f  the  w i tnesses,  a l l  the  w i tnesses  

and a l so  tha t  he  broke down the  amount  and in  page 42 he 20 

was te l l ing  Mr  Mad impi  no t  to  p lay  ca t  and mouse because 

there  was noth ing  more  to  d iscuss and in  the  las t  

parag raph he was  say ing :  

“ In  the  event  tha t  we are  successfu l  to  se t t le  some 

o f  the  c la ims we shou ld  cont inue w i th  the  arb i t ra t ion  
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on ly  in  respect  o f  the  remainder  o f  the  c la ims wh ich  

are  s t i l l  i n  d ispute  and then he conf i rms the  

arb i t ra to r ’s  ava i lab i l i t y. ”  

That  emai l  i s  da ted  6  September  2017 is  the  po in t  you sa id  

to  make tha t  even pr io r  to  your  appo in tment  as  

Cha i rperson o f  the  PRASA board  there  were  some 

communica t ions be tween the  lega l  team o f  the  S iyaya  

Group o r  the  l iqu ida tors  and PRASA’s  lawyers ,  i s  tha t  the 

po in t  you want  to  make?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.   That  obv ious ly  the  PRASA 10 

lawyers  were  say ing  they w i l l  reve r t  to  you but  then  S iyaya 

peop le  were  say ing  bu t  you had  your  w i tnesses,  what  

more?  Le t  us  t ry  to  separa te .   Where  the  issues cannot  be  

se t t led  we then go to  a rb i t ra t ion  knowing tha t  we a re  on ly  

go ing  in  respect  o f  where  there  is  s t i l l  d isputes  bu t  where  

there  are  no  d i sputes ,  fo r  examp le ,  w i th  the  ev idence o f  

the  w i tnesses tha t  I  w i l l  re fe r  to ,  why are  we s t i l l  go ing  on  

an arb i t ra t ion?  Th is  was even before  I  went  to  PRASA.   

Those emai ls  a re  September  2017 .   I  th ink  page 43 is  the  

emai l  o f  Mogashoa to  Mr  Botes ,  5  September  2017,  he  20 

says:  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  says :  

“ I  t rus t  tha t  we are  on  the  same page now and tha t  

you w i l l  ob ta in  p roper  and mean ing fu l  ins t ruc t ion  

f rom your  c l ien t  to  d ispose o f  a l l  the  ou ts tand ing  
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i ssues in  an  e f fec t i ve  and exped i t ious  manner.   We 

shou ld  no t  be  seen to  d rag our  fee t  and to  p lay  fo r  

t ime a t  our  c l ien t ’s  expense.   We are  du ly  bound to  

ac t  in  a  respons ib le  and d i l igent  manner.   We 

shou ld  the re fore  d isp lay  leadersh ip  and ac t  

p roact ive ly  in  reso lv ing  these d isputes . ”  

I s  tha t  the  par t  you want  to  emphas ise?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  tha t  i s  the  conc lus ion  o f  Mr  

Botes  bu t  I  wanted to  h igh l igh t  and ear l ie r  emai l  o f  Mr  

Mogashoa where  he  was –  they  were  bas i ca l l y  ta lk ing  10 

about  the  read iness o f  the  arb i t ra t ion  and whether  i t  shou ld  

be  postponed o r  no t .   Th i s  was an  emai l  tha t  Mr  Bo tes  was  

re fer r i ng  to .   Ac tua l l y,  he  was jus t  say ing  there  is  no  need 

to  even be ta lk ing  postponements  and read iness,  why do  

we not  se t t le  because a l ready –  separa te  the  issues ,  where  

there  are  d isputes ,  we can go on arb i t ra t ion  on  d isputes .   I  

am t ry ing  to  see page 45.   I  see  i t  has  my name but  i t  i s  

jus t  someth ing  –  I  do  no t  know what  i t  i s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  am go ing  to  he lp  you now but  i f  

you  have a  las t  po in t  to  make,  make i t  and then I  can ask  20 

you quest ions.   Some o f  my quest ions w i l l  touch on some 

o f  the  mat te rs  tha t  you may have wanted to  dea l  w i t h .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then a f te r  –  the  po in t  tha t  I  want  

to  make befo re  I  ge t  to  the  g is t  o f  the  issues between me 

and Ms Ngoy i  i s  tha t  they –  I  saw in  Mr  D ing iswayo ’s  
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s ta tement  he  says when I  a r r i ved a t  PRASA the  f i rs t  th ing  I  

asked about  was  th is  S iyaya mat te r  and tha t  i s  no t  t rue ,  

Cha i rperson.   My  ev idence in  my sworn  s ta tement  and as  I  

am ta lk ing  to  you  now,  tha t  i s  no t  t rue .   I  met  them before  

–  even before  Mr  Botes  came in to  the  p ic tu re  w i th  the  

S iyaya mat te r.   I  spoke to  them a f te r  the  board  came back  

f rom par l iament  where  par l iament  had put  us  under  

p ressure  to  g ive  answers  about  the  invest iga t ions tha t  had 

been ca r r ied  ou t  a t  PRASA and a  s ta tus .   So as  par t  o f  

consu l ta t ion  –  and I  th ink  Ms Ngoy i  re fe rs  to  i t  in  her  10 

s ta tement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  Ms Ngoy i  re fe rs  –  does not  say  tha t  

in  the  f i rs t  mee t ing  tha t  you had w i th  here ,  wh ich  Mr  

D ing iswayo I  th ink  a t tended.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Does not  say  tha t  you ra i sed the  issue 

o f  the  S iyaya c la ims.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    He says –  she says you ra i sed them in  

the  next  meet ing .  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    In  the  next  meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  between her  and Mr  D ing iswayo  

there  is  no  cons is tency bu t  the  po in t ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  when 

I  met  the  two,  these two lega l  o f f i c ia ls ,  i t  was jus t  a  
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genera l  d iscuss ion  about  i ssues in  PRASA,  the  issues –  

everybody knows about  the  cont rovers ies  a t  PRASA and  

the  par l i amentary  por t fo l io  commi t tee  had asked the  board  

to  g ive  a  repor t  about  the  AG’s  repor t ,  the  i r regu la r i t ies  

wh ich  were  spec i f i ca l l y  d i rec ted  to  repor t  about  th ings l i ke  

the  appo in tment  o f  –  I  ca l l  them Werksmans  but  I  

unders tand i t  is  no t  the  cor rec t  p ronunc ia t ion ,  i t  i s  

Werksmans but  I… 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  there  are  lo ts  o f  peop le ,  inc lud ing  

me,  who are  no t  a lways sure  whether  i t  i s  Werksmans or  10 

Werksmans.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  apparent ly  the  cor rec t  one is  

Werksmans.   So they were  va r ious repor ts  about  the  

appo in tment  Werksmans wh ich  we were  d i rec ted  to  take  

up,  jus t  f i rs t  go  to  PRASA and s ta r t  sn i f f ing  around  about  

S iyaya.   We d iscussed about  i ssues and we had a  co l leg ia l  

d iscuss ion ,  I  was  meet ing  them fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.  We were  

ask ing  them who  they are ,  Ms Ngoy i ,  why her  surname is  

spe l t  w i th  an  e  a t  the  end,  she con f i rmed tha t  no ,  indeed,  I  

am f rom –  I  am a  descent  o f  L i l l i an  Ngoy i  and she to ld  me 20 

how they came about  to  spe l l  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sure  i t  i s  Home Affa i r s .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  so  –  and a lso  Mr  D ing iswayo.   

You know,  we remin isced about  those issues,  tha t  bo th  o f  

them are  f rom great  o r  we l l -known in  the  h is to ry  o f  South  
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A f r i ca  and we had no issues,  we were  happy tha t  we are  

go ing  to  work  together  in  peace.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  f i rs t  meet ing .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  i s  in  our  f i rs t  meet ing ,  even 

before  Mr  Botes  came the re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  th ink  the  f i rs t  meet ing  was… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  th ink  i t  i s  on  the  9  November.    

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  ja ,  i t  was on –  I  th ink  Ms  Ngoy i  

says i t  was on the  9  November.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Le t  me conf i rm wi th  my records.   10 

Yes,  i t  i s  here  a  da te  9  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  second one was on the  14 t h .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    9 /11 / ’17  a t  PRASA,  Mar tha  Ngoy i ,  

Fan i  D ing i swayo  and then we were  a l so  w i th  the  then  

ac t ing  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i ce r.   My notes  here  says  

we ta lked about  the  appo in tment  o f  Werksmans,  what  they 

shou ld  g i ve  the  board  w i th  regard  to  the  appo in tment  o f  

Werksmans and then d iscuss ions.   We ta lked about  how 

Werksmans was appo in ted ,  accord ing  to  them.   We ta lked  

about  the  repor t  o f  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec tor  as  we l l  as  the  20 

repor t  o f  Makhube le  and Hunt ley  and we were  to  cont inue 

our  d i scuss ion .    

There  was no ment ion  o f  S iyaya because even me,  I  

d id  no t  know any th ing  about  tha t  a t  the  t ime.   And then we  

ad journed our  meet ing ,  tha t  we w i l l  have a  fo l low-up  
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meet ing .   The second meet ing  i s  on  tha t  da te  when a f te r  

Mr  Botes  came then I  ca l led  them aga in  because I  was  

s i t t ing  w i th  the  Group CEO.   Then  we d i scussed the  repor t  

tha t  I  have jus t  –  tha t  we were  jus t  read ing ,  Cha i rpe rson,  

and in  my s ta tement ,  I  ment ion  –  or  no t  s ta tement ,  in  my 

memo I  ment ion  tha t  Ms Ngoy i  appeared to  have  a  fa in t  

idea about  the  inso l vency inqu i ry.   So,  Cha i rpe rson,  tha t  i s  

my f i rs t  encounte r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then maybe I  can s top  here .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  I  w i l l  e labora te .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  le t  us  go  back and s tar t  a  l i t t le  

ear l ie r.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Be fore  your  appo in tment  as  Cha i rperson  

o f  the  PRASA board  you had been prac t ic ing  as  advocate  

s ince  1999,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and in  October  o f  2017 you were  20 

in te rv iewed by  the  Jud ic ia l  Serv i ce  Commiss ion  fo r  

appo in tment  as  a  judge,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was the  in te rv iew on the  4 t h  o r  what  was 

i t?   A re  you ab le  to  remember  the  ac tua l  da te?  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  cannot  remember  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ear ly  in  October.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  cannot  remember  o f fhand  but  i t  i s  

usua l l y  f i rs t  week  o f  October.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  i t  i s  usua l l y  f i rs t  week o f  October.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Shou ld  be  maybe …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  i t  was f i rs t  week o f  October.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    3  o r  4  o r  3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now you had been nomina ted fo r  

appo in tment  as  a  judge as  fa r  back be fore  October  was e l l .   10 

In  o ther  words,  when were  you nominated or  when d id  you 

put  in  your  nominat ion  documents?   Would  i t  have been 

around Ju l y?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  th ink  the  c los ing  da te  was  maybe 

Ju ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe around Ju ly.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Maybe around Ju ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   I  take  i t  tha t  a t  tha t  s tage you 

had made up your  m ind tha t  you wanted to  go  to  the  bench,  

i f  you  cou ld  be  appo in ted  to  the  bench,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and then you had the  in te rv iew,  I  

th ink  i t  was on the  4 t h  i f  I  am not  m is taken,  o f  October  f rom 

what  I  have read.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    3  o r  4  tha t…[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  now you  were  recommended fo r  

appo in tment ,  the  JSC recommended tha t  you be appo in ted  

as  a  Judge.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And when d id  you get  to  know tha t  tha t  

wou ld  be  the i r  recommendat ion ,  was i t  l i ke  a  day a f te r  you r  

in te rv iew o r  a  few days a f te r  the  in te rv iew? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  no rmal ly,  no  i t  i s  normal ly  no t  

days,  i t  wou ld  be  maybe,  i t  wou ld  be  the  next  day.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  be  the  next  day as  we l l .  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  does not  take  long.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no  tha t  i s  my exper ience as  we l l  tha t  

e i ther  hear  on  the  same day o f  the  in te rv iew,  o r  you get  

to ld  the  fo l low ing  day.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  does not  take  long,  so  i t  can  be a t  

leas t  by  the  beg inn ing  o f  the  fo l low ing week a f te r  the  

in te rv iews you knew tha t  you had been recommended fo r  

appo in tment .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:     Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    And a t  what  s tage had you been 

approached fo r  poss ib le  appo in tment  as  a  D i rec to r  o f  the 

PRASA Board?  When you went  t o  the  in te rv iews had you 

a l ready been approached o r  no t  ye t?     

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  must  have been –  I  am t ry ing  to  
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th ink  about  the  da te ,  because I  have these th ings i n  my –  I  

have a l ready dra f ted  some s ta tement  to  respond to  th is  a t  

some fo rum where  remember  they do . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Remember  the  JCC. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  the  JCC.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The JCC i s  a l ready. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Has had a  meet ing  w i th  you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  ac tua l l y  cons ider ing  tha t  very  

i ssue…[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The pos i t ion ,  tha t  they i s  ask ing  

me or  where  a re  you are  go ing  to…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Or  why d id  I  go  to  PRASA when I  

had a l ready been  nominated to  p rac t ice…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    For  the  bench.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    My answer  Cha i r…[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I s  I  w i l l  g ive  the  da te  in  –  I  w i l l  –  I  

w i l l  reduce tha t  s ta tement  in to  a  sworn  a f f idav i t ,  i f  I  –  the 

reason I  d id  no t…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Don ’ t  speak fa r  f rom the  mic .  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Oh sor ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because when  you speak –  when you  

are  a  d i s tance away,  I  cannot  hear  you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The app l i ca t ions to  the  JSC a re  

c losed,  maybe four  months  be fore  the  in te rv iews and my 

reco l lec t ions is  the  approach to  serve  in  the  PRASA board  

was in  September.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was in  September?    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Was in  September.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  was in  September  and 

def in i te ly  be fore  the  in te rv iew,  yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    And who approached you fo r  poss ib le  

appo in tment  to  the  board?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    There  is  a  ne ighbour  o f  m ine who 

obv ious ly  i f  you  know each o ther  you hear  about  

oppor tun i t ies  and  then you – even amongst  c i rc le  o f  f r iends 

or  even fami l ies .   So i t  was a  ne ighbour  he  sa id  the re  is  a  

–  he  heard  the  M in is te r  o f  Transpor t  wou ld  be  const i tu t ing  

in te r im or  temporary  boards because h i s  under  p ressure .    20 

          I  th ink  there  was some cour t  app l i ca t ions  fo r  the  

Min is te r  to  const i tu te  permanent  boards.   But  then 

apparent ly,  he  wanted to  const i tu te  in te r im boards when he  

was in  the  process o f  const i tu t ing  permanent  boards and  

then I  then sa id  look I  have a l ready dec ided tha t  I  no 
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longer  want  to  p rac t ice .   I  want  to  go  to  the  bench,  I  have 

submi t ted  an  app l i ca t ion  and i f  I  am successfu l  I  w i l l  –  

be tween th is  and the  bench I  w i l l  choose a  bench.    

          So  he sa id  anyway g i ve  me your  CV,  then I -  I  then 

gave h im my CV.   I  w i l l  –  i f  Cha i rperson wan ts  th is  

communica t ion  because i t  was SMS to  me…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  w i l l  g ive  i t  to  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no,  tha t ’s  f ine  tha t  may be  he lp fu l  

o r  maybe you can  inc lude i t  in  your  bund le .   10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  w i l l  i nc lude i t  in  my s ta tement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  gave h im my CV and def in i te ly  

be fore  the  JSC in te rv iew and then we fo rgo t  about  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  a re  you ab le  to  g ive  the  name o f  

the  ne ighbour?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  Mr  Chauke.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Chauke?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Chauke,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and what  i s  the  name? 20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    H is  name is  R ichard .   

CHAIRPERSON:    R ichard?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    R ichard ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  R ichard  Chauke.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    He is  a  Doctor  now,  you can ca l l  
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h im Docto r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh is  tha t  a  med ica l  Docto r,  academic  

Doctor?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No,  the  learned Doctor,  the re  is  a  

–  he  is  no t  a  med ica l  Docto r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay he  has  a  docto ra te .    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    He has a  doctora te ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no tha t  i s  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  unders tand those are  the  rea l  

Doctors .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  am sure  the  med ica l  Doctors  w i l l  

con tes t  tha t…[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  mean fo r  the  t i t le  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh fo r  the  t i t le ,  oh  okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The t i t le  be longs to  those who  

have a  PhD,  I  am to ld .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The medica l  ones i t  i s  a  job .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  am not  say ing  anyth ing  I  am jus t  20 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes so  I  w i l l  g ive  you the  t ra i l  o f  

tha t  cor respondence between then  two o f  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay tha t  w i l l  be  he lp fu l ,  yes .   
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So when –  then I  went  fo r  an  

in te rv iew and we d id  no t  ta lk  aga in  about  my CV.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  what  I  unders tood and what  he  

sa id  in  re tu rn  to  the  communica t ion  tha t  I  submi t ted  my CV  

was tha t  he  was go ing  to  fo rward  i t  to  the  depar tment .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  d id  no t  hear  anyth ing  f rom 

any one and I  d id  no t  un t i l  –  I  th ink  on  tha t  day  i t  was  

maybe 23 or  19  October  then I  jus t  heard  peop le  say ing  my 10 

name was ment ioned on te lev i s ion  when they made cab ine t  

announcement  tha t  I  have been appo in ted  in  the  PRASA 

in te r im board  con t ro l .    

          The cab ine t  has endorsed the  names and thereaf te r  

then I  rece ived the  ca l l  f rom the  depar tment .   Then I  

ind ica ted  tha t  –  fo r  how long is  th is  appo in tment  because  

one o ther  th ing  Cha i rperson befo re  you –  maybe tha t  w i l l  

be  your  next  quest ion .   I  do  no t  want  to  –  I  am not  

an t ic ipa t ing  your  quest ions bu t  because th is  i ssue has  

been ra i sed…[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Has been,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  know the  issues there  

concerned.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So ,  I  am not  an t ic ipa t ing .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine  address i t  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  be fore  I  went  to  the  in te rv iew,  

be fore  I  even  submi t ted  my  app l i ca t ion  fo r  jud ic ia l  

appo in tment ,  I  had spoken to  the  JP and…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  Judge,  Pres ident  Mlambo?   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Mlambo.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And then in  the  course  o f  ou r  

d iscuss ions obv ious ly  i s  to  es tab l i sh  your  read iness and I  

th ink  I  d id  ment ion  in  my in te rv iew tha t  he  is  the  one who 10 

was pe rs i s ten t  tha t  I  must  app ly,  I  must  jo in  there  because 

I  have been ac t ing  a  lo t .   Then I  –  be fore  I  then sa id  to  JP 

a t  tha t  t ime,  I  was ho ld ing  the  pos i t ion  o f  Cha i rperson o f  

the  Water  Tr ibuna l  tha t  i f  I  am appo in ted ,  I  w i l l  have to  

g ive  no t ice  to  the  Min is te r  o f  Transpor t  no t  t ranspor t  o f  

wate r  and san i ta t ion  because I  cannot  s imp ly  leave.    

          Then there  is  a  s tage where  the  Water  Tr ibuna l  

co l lapsed because the  Cha i rperson le f t  fo r  a  jud ic ia l  

appo in tment  w i thout  du t ies  and then when we were  

appo in ted  obv ious ly,  we re-es tab l i shed the  t r ibuna l .   So I  20 

sa id  I  w i l l  a t  leas t  want  to  g ive  no t ice  o f  about  th ree  

months .   So I  was ve ry  c lear  f rom the  beg inn ing  tha t  when 

I  ge t  the  appo in tment  I  am not  –  I  w i l l  f i rs t  have to  be  g i ve  

no t ice  f rom the  Water  Tr ibuna l  and tha t  was our  

unders tand ing .    
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          So  when I  accepted to  serve  in  the  in te r im board  o f  

PRASA i t  was on  tha t  bas is  tha t  anyway I  have t ime tha t  

when I  am f ina l i s ing  my work  o the r  than the  Wate r  Tr ibuna l  

there  were  o the r  mat te rs  tha t  had been sa t  down went  in to  

November  and some in to  February  and March o f  2018.   So 

tha t  th is  th ing  w i l l  fa l l  w i th in  tha t  –  because I  was to ld  i t  i s  

a  –  i t  was go ing  to  be  the  Min i s te r  was g iven four  months  

to  const i tu te  a  pe rmanent  board .    

          So  peop le  are  a lways ask ing  where  does th is  da te  

o f  1  Apr i l  come f rom because tha t  i s  the  da te ,  I  had 10 

ind ica ted  tha t  I  w i l l  be  ready to  s ta r t  w i th  my jud ic ia l  

appo in tment  Cha i rpe rson,  so  tha t  is  how i t  went .   So when  

the  announcements  tha t  the  Pres ident  has approved the  

recommendat ions  tha t  came a f te r  –  I  was a l ready a t  

PRASA.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  jus t  repeat  the  sentence I  d id  

no t  hear  i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    When the  Pres ident  made the  

appo in tments…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay to  appo in t  you as  a  Judge.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  was a l ready a t  PRASA,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  because you were  appo in ted  as  

Cha i rperson o f  PRASA…[ in te rvenes]  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    19  October…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    On the  19 t h  o f  October.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  announcement  o f  the  dec is ion  o f  

the  Pres ident  in  te rms o f  appo in t i ng  var ious Judges,  new 

Judges i t  seems i t  was made on the  2n d  o f  November  o r  i t  

i s  ear l y  November.   I s  tha t  your  reco l lec t ion?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  ear ly  November.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  ear ly  November.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  was a l ready a t  PRASA.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you were  a l ready a t  PRASA.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  was a l ready a t  PRASA.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  then when tha t  announcement  

was made then tha t  we a l l  s ta r t ing  on  the  1s t  o f  January.   

Then I  aga in  engaged the  Judge P res ident…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You what?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then  I  engaged the  Judge  

Pres ident .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Mlambo about  i t .   I  w i l l  p rov ide  

Cha i rperson w i th  –  because I  mean tha t  i s  no  longer  a  

secre t  eve ry th ing  must  be  –  whatever  i s  ava i lab le  we have  

to  p rov ide .   I  w i l l  p rov ide  ou r  communica t ion  because I  was  

expect ing  tha t  my appo in tment  wou ld  have a  da te  o f  1  
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Apr i l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Not  1  January.   So JP even befo re  

the  Pres ident  s igned the  le t te rs  o f  appo in tment ,  he  issued 

a  no t ice  fo r  the  recommended cand ida tes  o f  wh ich  I  was 

one.   H is  –  the  d i rec t i ve  was  te l l ing  us  tha t  he  was  

congra tu la t ing  us  fo r  even been recommended and  say ing  

tha t  usua l l y  f rom here  the  Pres ident  w i l l  s ign  the  

cer t i f i ca te .    

          He has asked h im to  s ign  fo r  the  1s t  o f  January  bu t  10 

usua l l y  the  Pres ident  w i l l  take  t ime but  even i f  he  takes 

t ime the  appo in tment  ge ts  backdated to  the  da te  tha t  he  

has g iven me and he a lso  was  exp la in ing  some o the r  

log is t i cs ,  appo in tment  log is t i cs .   And I  immedia te l y  wro te  

to  JP by  re turn  emai l  to  say  we l l  I  accept  tha t  you want  to  

p lace  me in  Pre tor ia  and asked o ther  quest ions and then I  

sa id  bu t  JP w i th  regard  to  the  da te  can I  have a  d iscuss ion  

w i th  you.    

          I f  you  remember  we had a  d iscuss ion  I  want  to  meet  

w i th  you w i th  regard  to  the  e f fec t i ve  da te  and remember  20 

Cha i r  by  then the  Pres ident  had not  ye t  s igned,  then 

accord ing  to  tha t  le t te r.   So JP sa id  to  me in  rep l y  Nana I  

am busy pu t  your  thoughts  about  the  e f fec t i ve  da tes  in  

wr i t ing ,  wh ich  I  d id  by  re tu rn  ma i l  to  h im to  say JP you  

remember  we agreed tha t  I  want  to  s ta r t  on  the  1s t  o f  Apr i l  
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fo r  these reasons .    

 And then we fu r ther  exchanges  between us  and 

apparent ly  in  be tween maybe because o f  my de lay  in  

respond ing  to  h im because in  one emai l  he  sa id  I  

responded la te  the  Pres ident  has a l ready put  the  da te  o f  1  

Apr i l .   And then we had fu r ther  meet ings w i th  the  JP and 

unt i l  we came to  the  unders tand ing  tha t  he  w i l l  engage the  

Min is te r  o f  Jus t ice  to  ask  the  Pres ident  to  change tha t  da te  

to  as  I  had requested.    

          And obv ious l y  I  had to  ask  JP but  JP why d id  you  10 

not  g ive  the  Pres ident  f rom the  beg inn ing  a  da te?  And 

then h is  rep l y  was tha t  no  he  rece ived many requests  and 

they…[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Don ’ t  move away f rom the  m ic .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Many requests  and then he wanted  

-  I  don ’ t  know what  he  -  bu t  the  long and the  shor t  o f  i t  was 

tha t  he  d id  no t  communica te  tha t  da te  to  the  Pres ident  a t  

tha t  t ime when he made tha t  submiss ion  and tha t  i s  the  

s to ry  Cha i rperson .   Yes,  I  w i l l  p rov ide  the  documents  tha t  I  

am re fer r ing  to  f rom the…[ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  we -  the  commiss ion  does have 

some co r respondence f rom the  JP and i t  i s  no t  in  the 

bund le  I  th ink  because i t  came recent ly.   We asked the  JP 

fo r  the  le t te r  ask ing  fo r  recommending a  de ferment  o f  your  

appo in tment  to  say i t  must  be  a t  a  la te r  da tes  bu t  we have 
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go t  tha t  le t te r  and then we ’ve  go t  a  le t te r  f rom 

Uni teBeh ind ,  I  th ink  i f  I  am not  m is taken tha t  Un i teBeh ind  

may have wr i t ten  –  I  don ’ t  know whether  to  you or  to  the  JP 

about  the i r  concerns in  regard  to  you and PRASA.    

          There  maybe a  le t te r  tha t  you e i ther  wro te  to  the  JP 

or  wro te  to  Un i teBeh ind  but  we wanted to  see the  le t te r  

tha t  went  to  e i ther  the  Min i s te r  o r  the  Pres ident  as  your  

appo in tment  must  be  de fer red .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  I  have tha t  cor respondence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You have got  tha t  cor respondence? 10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have tha t  cor respondence.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because immedia te ly  Un i teBeh ind  

s ta r ted  wr i t ing  to  JP Mlambo in  –  end o f  January  2018,  

towards end o f  January  they sa id  there  i s  a  Judge –  one o f  

your  Judges is  a  PRASA and accord ing  to  the  cour t  ro l l  we  

see she is  a l so  s i t t ing  in  cour t .   A Judge cannot  ho ld  dua l  

pos i t ions  and I  th ink  tha t  i s  when they engaged w i th  JP and 

he responded to  say no  she has asked to  s ta r t  1  Apr i l .    

          I  have  a l ready asked the  Min i s te r  to  ask  the  20 

Pres ident  to  do  th is  December.   That  i s  where  i t  s ta r ts .   I  

have the  cor respondence the  f i rs t  and even the  

cor respondence tha t  JP sent  to  the  Min is te r  subsequent  to  

tha t .   I  a lso  have –  because a  lega l  cont rove rsy  deve loped,  

the  cont roversy  was whether  tha t  da te  o f  1  Apr i l  can  s imp ly  
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be  changed.    

          And then –  by  then Pres ident  Zuma was gone i t  was 

Pres ident  Ramaphosa.  So the  lega l ,  the  S ta te  Lega l  

Adv isors  sor t  an  op in ion  wh ich  Pres ident  Ramaphosa  

wanted whether  he  lawfu l l y,  he  can grant  tha t  change.   I  

have tha t  op in ion  because i t  concerns me,  they p rov ided 

me wi th  tha t  op in ion  and I  d id  no t  even s ta r t  on  1  Apr i l  

because now the  cont roversy  grew b igger  and b igger  and 

b igger  and then the  Pres ident  wanted to  make su re  tha t  

be fore  he  changes tha t  da te .    10 

          So  I  s tayed home I  am no longer  a t  PRASA because 

I  res igned a t  PRASA.   I  am no longer  a t  PRASA,  I  am no 

longer  p rac t i s ing  as  an  Advocate .  

CHAIRPERSON:    When d id  you  s top  prac t is ing  as  an  

Advocate?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  –  on  the  13 t h  –  end o f  March.   

CHAIRPERSON:    End o f  March 2018,  2018?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    2018,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because I  was s t i l l  even appear ing  20 

in  cour t  and I  am a lso  do ing  Water  Tr ibuna l  work .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  am -  my e f fec t i ve  

da te…[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we –  a f te r  we got  the  JP ’s  le t te r  o r  
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cor respondence and we saw tha t  what  was sa id  to  the 

Min is te r  as  the  reason fo r  the  de ferment  was,  I  th ink  the 

work  a t  Water  Tr ibuna l  the  commiss ion .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    They made  contac t  w i th  the  Water  

Tr ibuna l  about  the  work  tha t  was to  be  done as  we l l .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You sa id  there  was some work  to  be 

done there .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    There  was I  d id  some s i t t ings  a t  10 

the  Water  Tr ibuna l  in  the  month  o f  February  and I  have –  I  

w i l l  g ive  you a  copy o f  my le t te r  o f  res ignat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  there  was work  tha t  I  was 

do ing  a t  the  Water  Tr ibuna l  on  spec i f i c  da tes  wh ich  I  w i l l  

p rov ide  you w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now the  –  i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y  the  

cor respondence I  saw seems to  suggest  tha t  the re  was  

appea l  wh ich  had been heard  on  a  number  o f  days up  to  

the  end o f  2017 but  the  judgment  had been reserved and i t  20 

was handed down la te r  a t  some s tage in  2018,  I  th ink  m id-

2018.   But  in  te rms o f  s i t t ings  the  cor respondence 

suggested tha t  the  s i t t ings  were  on ly  in  2017.   Would  tha t  

be  your  reco l lec t ion?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No,  I  w i l l  g ive  Cha i rperson the  
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de ta i l s…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you w i l l  g ive  a  fu l l  account  o f  what  

was there .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  I  w i l l  g ive  you a  fu l l  account  

o f  what  was there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And wh ich  sa t  on  wh ich  da tes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And when  the  cont rove rs ies  arose 

because i t  was c lear  tha t  I  was no t  go ing  to  be  work ing  as  10 

Judge on the  1s t  o f  Apr i l .   I  then asked JP,  JP and Min is te r  

Masutha I  was wr i t ing  to  them to  say p lease te l l  me am I  

s t i l l  go ing  to  be  a  Judge or  can I  jus t  fo rge t  about  th is  and  

go back to  p rac t ice  because JP ’s  pos i t ion  was tha t  we  

cannot  r i sk  pu t t ing  me on the  bench befo re  tha t  

cont roversy  was reso lved and I  remembered I  had been –  

the  JP D i taba had put  me in  the  recess ro le  o f  Apr i l  o f  

2018.    

          But  JP Mlambo sa id  no  I  cannot  un t i l  tha t  

cont roversy  i s  reso lved because the  r i sk  o f  tha t  ce r t i f i ca te 20 

o f  appo in tment  wh ich  we do not  know whether  i t  i s  va l id  o r  

no t  un t i l  we here  f rom the  Pres ident .   And he cannot  

appo in t  me to  s i t  on  the  bench on an ac t ing  bas is .   So I  d id  

no th ing  in  Apr i l ,  I  d id  no th ing  in  May and mid-May then  

Pres ident  Ramaphosa made a  dec is ion .   I  do  no t  know i f  
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Cha i rperson has cop ies  o f  the  dec is ions?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  I  have seen a t  leas t ;  I  don ’ t  know 

i f  i t  i s  a  le t te r  f rom the  Min is te r  say ing  the  Pres iden t  made  

a  dec is ion  wh ich  I  unders tand i t  to  be  –  the  e f fec ts  to  

wh ich  I  unders tand to  be  tha t  you were  go ing  to  s ta r t  on  

the  1 s t  o f  June or  you have been appo in ted  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 

the  1 s t  o f  June.    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course ,  i t  i s  a  l i t t le  confus ing  

because you had  a l ready been appo in ted  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 10 

the  1 s t  o f  January.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  bu t…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then now the  le t te r  says you are  

be ing  appo in ted  l i ke  aga in  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 1s t  o f  June,  I  

found i t  a  l i t t le  b i t  confus ing .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    There  may be what  Cha i rpe rson  

missed i s  the  proc lamat ion  by  the  Pres ident .   There  i s  a  

p roc lamat ion  tha t  say…[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The pres ident ia l  m inutes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The pres ident ia l  m inutes .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  says I  had p rev ious ly  

appo in ted  you w i th  e f fec t  f rom 1  January  and now I  am 

chang ing  tha t  da te  to  1  June and then there  is  the  

appo in tment  cer t i f i ca te .   So tha t  i s  what  I  am say ing  tha t  
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you  maybe d id  no t  see.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  now the  le t te r  tha t  was wr i t ten  by  

the  Judge Pres ident  to  the  Min is te r  about  the  de fe rment  o f  

your  appo in tment  cer ta in ly  says i n  e f fec t  i t  i s  because o f  

your  work  as  in  the  Water  Tr ibuna l  tha t  you were  seek ing  

the  de ferment .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  don ’ t  th ink  i t  says  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh maybe I  shou ld  ask  what  i s  the  

reason tha t  made  you ask  fo r  the  de ferment?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have no t  seen;  I  have not  seen 10 

tha t  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  sa id  when I  asked to  de fe r  i t  was 

to  f ina l i se  my work .   I  s t i l l  had mat te rs  se t  down up  to  the  

beg inn ing  o f  the  next  yea r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And second ly  i t  was to  res ign  f rom 

the  Water  Tr ibuna l  and g ive  no t i ce  un t i l  31  March and I  

sa id  the  PRASA i ssue i s  someth ing  tha t  happened because 

I  want  to  make  i t  c lear  Cha i rperson I  d id  no t  –  Jake 20 

Mlambo d id  no t  g ive  me permiss ion  to  go  to  PRASA.   No,  

he  d id  no t .   I  a l ready sa id  tha t  when they sa id  the  

appo in tment  w i l l  no t  be  longer  than four  months ,  I  sa id  I  

can do th is  because anyway I  have  t ime.    

          So  i t  was  on economic  dec i s ion  l i ke  I  was s t i l l  
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p rac t i s ing  –  go ing  to  cour t  do ing  eve ry th ing  tha t  an  

independent  lega l  p rac t i t ione r  cou ld  do .   So when the  

oppor tun i ty  came,  I  sa id  I  can do  th is  and then i t  w i l l  be 

f in ished befo re  my due date  to  s ta r t  w i th  the…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  saw in  a  –  I  th ink  your  s ta tement  o r  

le t te r  to  the  ba r  counse l  in  re la t ion  to  your  compla in t  

aga ins t  Mr  Botes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  saw tha t  you  ind ica ted  tha t  you had  

asked fo r  the  de ferment  o f  your  appo in tment  in  o rde r  to  10 

wrap up your  p rac t ice…[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    My p rac t ice ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have i t  here  w i th  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  th ink  I  d id  see the re  someth ing  to  

tha t  e f fec t .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Paragraph  1 ,  I  say  I  was a  member  

o f  P re tor ia  soc ie ty…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  w i l l  no t  be…[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  res igned  f rom membersh ip  o f  the  20 

bar  w i th  a  v iew to  p repare  fo r  tak ing  up  jud ic ia l  

appo in tment .   My  appo in tment  wou ld  have been w i th  e f fec t  

f rom 1  January  however  I  requested an indu lgence  o f  four  

months  to  wrap up my lega l  p rac t ice .   So i t  was –  I  jus t  

genera l i sed he re .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  and then I  say  I  wou ld  have  

commenced dut ies  on  1  Apr i l  bu t  the  da te  was amended to 

1  June 2018.   I  took  o f f i ce  as  a  Judge on 8  June.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  part  of  the concern I  have is  that  in  

the let ter to the Minister asking for the deferment the reason 

that  is ment ioned and I  assume that  the JP ment ioned i t  

because that  is what came from you was your Water Tr ibunal  

commitments.   But  in  th is  statement ,  i t  says i t  is  wrapping up 

your legal  pract ice and about … 10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Have not  seen that  let ter 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no i t… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  cannot comment on i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  – but… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The request  that  I  made.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Was to wrap up my legal  pract ice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Your legal  pract ice.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Indeed, the Water Tr ibunal .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   That  is part  of  my legal  pract ice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  – I  do not  see the cont radict ion 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you saw – you see i t  as  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The Water Tr ibunal  is part  of  your pract ice.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  was – I  was appointed when whi lst  10 

– I  was not  a ful l t ime – i t  was not  a ful l t ime job.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is a – i t  is a – Chairpersonship 

where you are cal led to adjudicate matters as and when 

there are matters.   And i t  is – and whi lst  you are doing any 

other work that  comes your way as a legal  pract i t ioner.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so you say af ter and I  th ink you said 

you resigned f rom the bar wi th effect  f rom the end of  20 

November,  is i t  r ight? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And then you cont inued pract ic ing.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Membership.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Af ter – membership of  the bar.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because you can – you can pract ice 

as an advocate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   In your house or anywhere.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  understand that .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  membership of  the bar.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  resigned.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You had resigned ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  in terms of  your pract ice.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  cont inued.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You cont inued ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  cont inued.  

CHAIRPERSON:   At  that  stage you were no longer keeping 

chambers.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No I  was no longer keeping 

chambers.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You were pract ic ing f rom home. 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  was pract ic ing f rom home.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   From home. 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  course,  I  guess you must have had 

qui te some work because i f  you defer your appointment as a 

Judge f rom 1 January to up to end of  March i t  means you 
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would be forfei t ing three months’ salary as a Judge.  So your 

pract ice must  have been . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l  compared to – compared to the 

matters that  I  had I  had already scheduled – I  – i t  was worth 

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was worth i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  was worth i t  because I  had – I  had 

court  hearings.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You had court  hearings.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  had court  hearing even in 10 

Polokwane.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   High court  Pretor ia I  was st i l l  

consul t ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And the Tr ibunal  paid per si t t ing and 

this Chai rperson they are – there is  administ rat ive work that  

precede si t t ings because you are the one al locat ing matters.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   You are the one al locat ion means 20 

you must have read the f i les and everything.   So i t  was – 

and i t  was real ly not  about  money i t  was about put t ing my – 

my l i fe in order that  I  want to close this chapter.   I  st i l l  have 

matters.   I  st i l l  have accounts to render and I  –  I  must  do 

this let  me – let  me defend my appointment.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  – yes I  forfe i ted Judge’s salary 

for not  just  those three months but  because the appointment 

was delayed further for f ive months.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  And of  course,  when you… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  was no longer my choice I  was 

simply not  in a posi t ion because I  could not  now assume 

dut ies because they – I  was told the cert i f icate must  f i rst  be 

changed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Now tel l  me in regard to your posi t ion as 10 

Chairperson of  the Water Tr ibunal .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What was the not ice per iod you were 

requi red to give?  Was i t  three months or in terms of  the law 

or what was the not ice? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   There is no – there is no speci f ied 

not ice per iod.  

CHAIRPERSON:   There is no speci f ied per iod.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  – I  chose to give that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because I  – there were a lot  of  –  

there were a lot  o f  outstanding matters Chai rperson and as I  

said I  d id not  want to disrupt  the Tr ibunal  because i f  there is 

no Chai rperson there is no Tr ibunal .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And at  that  t ime there was even – 

when i t  became – when i t  a lmost  happened that  on the 30 – 

maybe i t  was the end of  March when I  real ised that  th is th ing 

of  changing the appointment date is –  may not  happen soon.   

I  even considered wi thdrawing my resignat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   At  the Water  Tr ibunal  because I  – I  

wanted to  – to go back to pract ice and I  – I  th ink there was a 

– there was that  a t tempt to wi thdraw.  I  was no longer.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  fe l t  let  me go back and wi thdraw my 

res ignat ion and forget  about  th is jud icial  appointment.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In the interview in  the JSC they asked you 

when you would be avai lable to commence dut ies as a judge 

i f  you are appointed.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   They did not  ask you about that? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No.   No.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   When I  have – I  have seen again I  

am not  pre-empt ing your quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  because Judge Tuchten – you 
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know he wrote the judgment and then he – he ment ions in 

his judgement that  –  did  she consider  the fact  –  some facts 

f rom the JCC was there something she should have told the 

JCC def in i te ly no-one asked me anything.   I  mean the record 

is – can be accessed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   There were no quest ions that  when 

are you avai lable?  Can you start  tomorrow, next  week or 

when?  And my understanding Chairperson and you should 

know and i t  – and i t  is a fact  that  can be establ ished that  10 

there are – there are judges who -  who asked and were given 

much longer than three months.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So i t  was not  – i t  is not  – there is  

nothing untoward about someone asking to defer thei r  

appointment.   I t  has happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And there is noth ing as far as I  know 

there is no rule that  you – you cannot ask.   There is no rule 

that  once you are recommended there is a speci f ic date that  20 

you must  start  in and in my interact ions wi th the Department 

of  Just ice because we had a lot  of  interact ions and I  wi l l  

ment ion i t  in my statement and also refer to the people that  I  

was consul t ing wi th.   The logist ics of  the appointment I  – are 

wi th the Head of  a court  because he knows when he needs 
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capaci ty,  and even we at tend the same interviews Eastern 

Cape the judges would be requi red to start  a month ear l ier 

and in another div is ion maybe a di fferent  date and my 

understanding is the JP gives the Minister a date that  I  want  

my appointees to  commence on th is date.   And – and f rom 

there i t  becomes – i t  becomes an employment issue that  is 

the informat ion I  received that  in  real i ty the – the people 

doing the logist ics of  the appointment should be asking you,  

here is  –  when do want to start?  And then you say,  no I  want 

to start  next  when, when and then you sign the – forms be 10 

signed or sa lary for the declarat ions of  interest  and al l  those 

things.   For my understanding f rom the informat ion that  has 

been provided to me is that  that  is al lowed and unt i l  now I  do 

not  know maybe the JCC – the JSC may want to – to do 

something about  i t  and – because we are not  behind as – 

has gone as far as to suggest  that  once you are 

recommended i t  means you – your economic act iv i ty starts.   

But  they forget  that  the recommendat ion as Chai r  is al ready 

set .   I t  is on ly af ter the interview and the effect ive date of  

the appointment would be two months later even i f  one were 20 

to take that  appointment.   But  then who is going to support  

you in-between? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  certainly know that  there have been 

occasions when persons who have been recommended for  

appointment as judges did not  start  or took qui te some t ime 
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before they started or  before thei r  appointments took effect .   

And I  understand that  some of  them ra ised those issues in  

the JSC to say,  al though I  have made mysel f  avai lable,  I  

want to say that  I  wi l l  not  be able to  start  l ike wi thin the t ime 

that  i t  normal ly happens.   I  wi l l  – I  wi l l  ta lk to the Head of  

court  because I  could – I  might  want to make an arrangement 

for – for my pract ice.   There have been those instances but  I  

do not  know the detai ls in regard to a l l  of  them.  I  just  do 

know that  there are some of  those instances.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes Chai rperson.   And the other  10 

thing is I  am not  aware of  any prohibi t ion that  whi lst  you 

under recommendat ion – let  me put  i t  that  you are under 

recommendat ion the kind of  work you can or cannot do.   I  

agree…  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you see … 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  real ly do not  know because i t  was 

st retched to say I  could – I  should not  have gone to PRASA. 

But  what should I  have done?  No-one told me that  you are 

now l imi ted to do this.   I f  you have you cannot do that .   I   am 

not .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you see.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am not  aware.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You see Judge Makhubele part  of  what  

makes your case st range at  least  to  me.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 82 of 127 
 

CHAIRPERSON:   And I  – I  am put t ing this to you so that  you 

can address i t .   Is that  here is somebody who – who wants to 

be a judge.   She has gone to an in terview with the Judicial  

Service Commission.   She knows that  she has been 

recommended for appointment as a Judge.  She knows about 

her recommendat ion ear ly in October and around 19 October 

she al lows hersel f  to be appointed as Chai rperson of  an 

SOE.  I t  could have been maybe a pr ivate company but  an 

SOE.  In ci rcumstances where she knows that  in al l  

probabi l i ty she is going to be appointed.  10 

 Because I  th ink we both know that  once the judicial  

serv ice commission has recommended to. . .  actual ly,  the 

Const i tut ion says. . .  has advised the president to appoint  

you,  a lmost  invar iably the president  wi l l  appoint  you,  you 

know.   

 There may be one or two cases that  I  am aware of  where 

there was some queries but  I  do not  remember anybody over 

the years who in respect  of  whom any president  was advised 

to appoint . . .  to make an appointment and did not  accept  the 

advice.  20 

 So you are deal ing wi th the si tuat ion where you are 

almost  sure that  you are going to  be appointed.   You go to  

the bench.    

 I t  is towards the end of  the year.   I t  is maybe reasonable 

to th ink that  your  expectat ion would be that  you would start  
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ear ly in the new year.  

 So then the quest ion ar ises,  but  why is she taking this  

PRASA appointed?  Why is  she tak ing on new 

responsibi l i t ies when she knows she is due soon to start  her  

funct ions,  her dut ies as a judge? 

 Why is she taking on more responsibi l i t ies instead of  

reducing her responsibi l i t ies in preparat ion for going to the 

bench? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  Chai rperson.   The problem with 

that  analyses is that  there is an at tempt to l ink the two 10 

scenarios.   The non-taking up of  the appointment  and having 

gone to PRASA.. . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  not  want ing to  take on . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Then there is a . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . . the judicial  appointment but  want ing to 

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   There was a . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . . take on a non-judicial  appointment .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   There is  an ul ter ior mot ive which is  

what is being. . .  I  do not  know i f . . .  I  can only explain what I  20 

am explaining.   And then . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Then the complainants wi l l  be saying,  

“Yes,  the reason she did not  is because she wanted to go 

and commit  th is  i r regular i ty at  PRASA”.   But  i f  you can 
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separate the two issues,  then you wi l l  see that  they are not . . .  

they would not  necessari ly be l inked.  

 Because suppose I  had gone to PRASA and then under 

simi lar c i rcumstances and I  come out  wi thout  any al legat ion 

of  wrongdoing,  there would not  be any cont roversy about i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  to me i t . . .  there wi l l  st i l l  be 

something strange about taking the PRASA job.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because as I  say,  when you. . .  you know 

you have been recommended for appointment as a judge and 10 

you know that  soon you wi l l  be expected to commence your 

dut ies as a judge,  one would expect  you to begin to wrap up 

because you know you are soon going to  be start ing as a 

judge.  

 One would not  be expect ing you to take on more 

responsibi l i t ies.   That  is point  one.   Point  two,  these 

responsibi l i t ies. . .  these are. . .  th is was a posi t ion that  would 

be seen as not  consistent  wi th  being a judge to say but  th is  

person wants to be a judge.    

 She has made her choice.   She wants to be a judge.   20 

She knows she has been recommended.  In due course she 

must  start  working as a judge.   Why is she adding on another 

responsibi l i ty that  has got  nothing to do wi th your funct ion? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Wel l ,  Chai r.   I  am ready to answer to 

any suggest ions that  may be put  as the reasons before I  



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 85 of 127 
 

can. . .  i f  I  have to dispute the suggest ions.   But  I  have 

al ready given my.. .  how i t  happened. 

 You know you. . .  Chairperson,  you are si t t ing there wi th  

the hindsight  . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  but  I  just  want you to address  

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   You are set t ing there wi th hindsight ,  

quest ioning the mot ives of  someone who says i t  happened 

because I  had t ime.  I  was. . .  I  had t ime unt i l  end of  March as 

far as I  am concerned.    10 

 And that  in the per iod,  there was nothing to prevent  me 

to have taken up the appointment.   You know i f  the 

suggest ion or i f  what  was being put  to me was to say you 

know there is a prohibi t ion that  you cannot do this,  then I  wi l l  

start  to begin to  say. . .  to want to just i fy to say I  d id not  

know.  

 But  I  am saying,  as far as I  am concerned or as far as I  

knew, there was no prohibi t ion and I  d id that  out  of  a need.   

And I  am tel l ing you that  I  was st i l l  adjudicat ing matters at  

the Water Tr ibunal .   I t  was not  a ful l - t ime job.   I t  was on a 20 

holding basis.    

 And same with PRASA.  I t  was not  a ful l - t ime job.   I t  

was. . .  I  am al ready in th is t r ibunal  and board.   For me i t  

would sound the same that  even there I  would go when I  am 

needed.   
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 There are meet ings,  schedules of  meet ings that  we are 

given,  and then that  other side,  there is also schedule and 

then there are court  hearings which are also scheduled.    

 And I  d id not  see any. . .  besides not  seeing any conf l ict ,  I  

d id not  deem i t  as a job that  Chai rperson would ca l l  a huge 

responsibi l i ty.    

 And I  wi l l  te l l  you again,  I  am not  ant ic ipat ing the 

quest ions because I  know the quest ions have been asked by 

everyone.  

 Even at  the JCC,  there is a rul ing that  chief  just ice and 10 

his commit tee have already made that  of  a l l  the cases at  

PRASA, she concentrated on the Siyaya matter.  

 And I  am not . . .  I  am going to prove that  I  d id  not  

concent rate on Siyaya matters.    

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   And I . . .  maybe not  to you,  but  I  am 

ready to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  but  I  am going there but  let  us 

deal  wi th th is f i rst .   I  am going there.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   I  am going to prove that  we did a lot  20 

at  PRASA and I  wi l l  be happy to share what we did wi th you 

so that  you can see that  there was nothing strenuous about  

i t .   I  carr ied i t  and I  a lso carr ied what I  had to carry at  the 

Water Tr ibunal  and also in court .  

 So I  wi l l . . .  so I  am ready to answer that  quest ion that . . .  
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other than Siyaya,  what did you do.   Chai rperson,  i f  you want 

to get  to i t  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  no,  no.   I  th ink we.. .  but  let  us 

f in ish on this.   I  am surpr ised that  you say that  you did not  

see your posi t ion as chai rperson of  the PRASA Board as a 

posi t ion that  came with huge responsibi l i t ies.  

 I  am surpr ised by that  because my own understanding is  

that  indeed any posi t ion of  chai rperson of  a board of  any of  

these SOE’s comes with a lot  of  responsibi l i t ies but  also 

. . . [ intervenes]   10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Chai rperson,  can I  correct  you?  I  d id 

not  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  before that .   I  wi l l  g ive you a chance.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A lso,  purely f rom what one has been 

hearing about  PRASA in the publ ic  domain even before this  

Commission,  the al legat ions of  corrupt ion and what is  

happening there.  

 And of  course,  I  have had some evidence wi thin  the 

Commission,  but  even in the years,  some years back in  the 20 

publ ic domain,  i t  was qui te clear  that  there were lots of  

al legat ions of  corrupt ion at  PRASA.  

 And also,  you may or  may not  be aware that  your  

predecessor in that  posi t ion,  Mr Popo Molefe,  has test i f ied in 

th is Commission.    
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 May understanding of  his test imony is that  as a board 

they had a lot  of  work to do.   So my impression is that  there 

was qui te of  work.   I t  was a lot  of  responsibi l i ty.    

 That  is  why I  am saying that  I  am surpr ised that  you. . .  

your evidence seems to be that  no i t  was not  such a heavy 

job.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Wel l ,  I . . .  you did. . .  you 

misunderstood me.  The word that  we were using was 

st renuous.   And I  said i t  was not  a st renuous job.   I  d id a job 

very wel l  and I  wi l l  show you what we did.  10 

 Yes,  there was a lot  of  work.   And I  to ld you Chai rperson 

that  the second day of  our appointment,  we were cal led to  

par l iament and we were given certain tasks to  repor t  and we 

had meet ings.  

 So I  d id  not  use the word there is  no. . .  i t  is  no job.   I  

said i t  was not  st renuous.   I  was able to carry i t .   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  so you do accept  that  the job came 

with a huge responsibi l i ty? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes,  I  do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   I  do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You see that  is in  part  where my di ff icul ty 

is,  is namely that ,  here is  somebody who should be winding 

down in order to be ready to take a new posi t ion as a judge 

soon but  instead of  winding down, she is tak ing on a new 
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posi t ion wi th  a huge responsib i l i ty.   That  does not  sound.. .  

that  seems strange to me.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   I f  Chai r  can tel l  me how st range i t  is 

and maybe tel l  me what informs your . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  th ink . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   . . .worry . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .once you know . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Because we have been [ laughs]  you 

have been on this  and I  cannot take i t  further.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Chai r,  we remain wi th  that .   Chair  wi l l  

remain wi th the impression . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   . . . that  i t  is st range and I  wi l l  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   I  cannot. . .  in the absence 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   You cannot say anything more than what 

you have said,  yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   . . . in the absence of  you te l l ing me 

what you think in formed my decision to enable me to deal  

wi th your thoughts,  whether they are. . .  i t  is just  your  

thoughts or the evidence that  has been led before you,  I  

cannot take i t  any further.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  no.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Can I  request?  I  need to dr ink water  

Chai r.   I f  you. . .  i f  I  can have an opportuni ty to  just  get  my 

water and dr ink i t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   A comfort  break? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   I  have been talk ing for long now.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay let  us take a 15-minute comfort  

break.   I  see i t  is  quarter  past  seven.   So we come back at  10 

hal f -past  seven.   Then we wi l l  see how.. .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .when we can adjourn.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE :   Yes,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay we wi l l  take an adjournment for 15-

minutes.   We wi l l  resume at  hal f -past  seven.   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS  

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  ha l f  past  seven,  we w i l l  ad journ  a t  

e igh t .   Yes,  counse l  and Judge.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Oh,  so r ry,  I  am go ing  to  s ta r t  

a f resh.   The reason I  asked what  issues the  Commiss ion  is  

invest iga t ing  because I  obv ious ly  need to  know what  I  am 

supposed to  respond to  and yeste rday I  wro te  a  le t te r  to  

Cha i rperson.   I  am not  say ing  you  have seen i t  ye t  bu t  you  
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can  jus t  take  note ,  i t  i s  4  August  2020 where  I  requested  

cer ta in  in fo rmat ion  and pa r t  o f  tha t  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  

requested was tha t  I  see the  w i tnesses before  you have 

a t tached the  judgment  o f  Judge Ne i l  Tuchten and  in  tha t  

judgment  he  has  made some adverse  remarks  about  me  

and he has a lso  –  one o f  the  issues tha t  he  is  dea l ing  w i th  

i s  the  issue o f  why d id  I  no t  –  why,  what  d id  I  poss ib ly  

w i thhe ld  cer ta in  in fo rmat ion ,  what  was I  do ing  a t  PRASA 

and then he makes a  recommenda t ion  tha t  he  is  o f  the  f i rm 

v iew tha t  a  p la t fo rm shou ld  be  c rea ted fo r  me to  answer  10 

the  quest ions tha t  he  has ra i sed.   Some o f  the  quest ions  

re la ted  to  the  a l legat ions o f  the  se t t lement  o f  the  c la ims  

but  then aga in  spec i f i c  to  the  i ssues per ta in ing  to  my 

appo in tment  as  a  judge and the  very  k ind  s t range fee l ings  

tha t  Cha i rpe rson  says you have  and then he says a  

p la t fo rm must  be  presented –  must  be  crea ted to  me .   So in  

the  le t te r  tha t  I  wro te  to  you,  Cha i rperson,  yes terday,  I  

spec i f i ca l l y  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  have not  seen tha t  le t te r.   I t  m igh t  

have –  i t  m igh t  be  on  the  way.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  spec i f i ca l l y  asked  i f  th is  

Commiss ion  is  tha t  p la t fo rm tha t  Judge Tuchten has  

suggested must  be  crea ted  or  what  am I  supposed to  

answer  w i th  regard  to  the  judgment  o f  Judge Tuchten wh ich  

has a t tached to  the  w i tnesses ’ s ta tements ,  Cha i rpe rson.   



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 92 of 127 
 

So  a t  th is  po in t  my request  i s  tha t  I  –  and when we s tar ted ,  

Cha i r  sa id  no ,  you are  on ly  dea l ing  w i th  the  issues  

per ta in ing  to  the  se t t lement  o f  the  c la ims and  I  took  

comfor t  in  tha t  bu t  then now,  Cha i rpe rson,  he  is  ask ing  me 

quest ions about  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  sa id  the  issues tha t  we w i l l  dea l  

w i th  a re  those tha t  a re  in  the  a f f idav i t s  in  th is  Commiss ion  

and then I  ment ioned the  se t t lement ,  wh ich  is  one o f  them.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And ac tua l l y,  i t  occup ies  qu i te  a  b ig  par t  10 

o f  what  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr  D ing iswayo ta lks  about .   One o f  

the  th ings tha t  Ms Ngoy i  ra ises  is  tha t  –  bu t  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  PRASA board  had been appo in ted  as  a  

judge.   Ac tua l l y,  when she took up  the  pos i t ion ,  accepted 

the  pos i t ion  o f  Cha i rperson o f  the  board  o f  PRASA she had 

a l ready been recommended fo r  appo in tment .   She ra ises  

those issues in  her  a f f idav i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  she  makes s ta tements ,  she  

does not  ra ise  issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  she  is  say ing  in  e f fec t  20 

…[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  jus t  the  s ta tement ,  the  person  

tha t  ca l l s  i t ,  i t  i s  Mr  Achmat ,  in  h is  s ta tement  and  I  th ink  

when we dea l  w i th  h is  ev idence,  I  expect  to  address what  

he  means by  my cont rovers ia l  appo in tment .    
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 Bu t  then,  the  i ssue tha t  I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  

in  the  le t te r  tha t  I  have wr i t ten ,  wh ich  you say you have not  

seen,  maybe i f  Cha i r  can see the  le t te r  f i rs t  because I  

re fe r red  to  the  ru les  o f  the  Commiss ion .    

In  te rms o f  the  ru les  o f  the  Commiss ion ,  i f  there  are  

proceed ings in  any o the r  fo rum tha t  were  conducted to  be 

–  so  i n  th is  case,  on  th is  very  same issues there  is  

p roceed ings a t  the  H igh  Cour t  in  Pre tor ia  be fore  two 

judges,  Ho l land-Müter  and Tuchten.   There  are  p roceed ings 

be fore  the  JCC where  I  have a l ready appeared and the  10 

ru le ,  Ru le  6 .5  says a  w i tness –  we l l ,  I  am ob l iged and the  

o ther  w i tnesses  are  ob l iged to  b r ing  those to  your  

a t ten t ion ,  those proceed ings,  to  te l l  th is ,  so  tha t  secre tary  

can procure  the  t ranscr ip ts  in  those p roceed ings,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  –  and wh ich  is  what  i n  I  have 

–  the  head ing  o f  th is  sec t ion  o f  my le t te r  says:   Terms o f  

Refe rence in  PRASA Hear ings because I ,  in  a l l  honesty,  I  

need to  know tha t  what  exact ly  am I  supposed to  respond i t  20 

to .   That  i s  why I  s ta r ted  by  re fe r r ing  to  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms 

Ngoy i  where  she  says the  peop le ,  she is  go ing  to  ta lk  

about  a re  peop le  aga ins t  who had been found want ing .   

And I  emphas ise  tha t  I  am not  one o f  those persons,  no 

one has eve r  found me want ing  fo r  anyth ing  [ inaud ib le  –  
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speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  me exp la in  i t  to  you so  tha t  we  

do not  take  too  long on th is .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You look a t  the  te rms o f  re fe rence o f  the 

Commiss ion ,  you w i l l  see  tha t  they inc lude tha t  the 

Commiss ion  must  invest iga te  S ta te  Capture  and co r rup t ion  

and  f raud in  the  Pub l ic  Sector  inc lud ing  organs o f  s ta te .   

As  I  sa id  ear l ie r  on ,  many peop le  know tha t  fo r  yea rs  there  

have been a l l  k inds o f  a l legat ions  o f  co r rup t ion  a t  PRASA 10 

and tha t  have been in  the  pub l i c  domain .    

 Now the  PRASA wi tnesses who have come fo rward  

have tes t i f ied  about  a l legat ions o f  cor rup t ion  a t  PRASA,  

they have made  cer ta in  a l legat ions aga ins t  the  S iyaya 

compan ies  in  te rms o f  cor rup t ion ,  they have made  cer ta in  

a l legat ions  aga ins t  Mr  Makhensa Mabunda,  who I  

unders tand f rom Ms Ngoy i ’s  a f f idav i t ,  cont ro l s  the  S iyaya  

group o f  compan ies  and they say here  is  some th ings tha t  

happened here ,  somebody who had been in te rv iewed fo r  

appo in tment  as  a  judge and had  been recommended fo r  20 

appo in tment  ge ts  appo in ted  to  come to  PRASA and she 

comes to  PRASA as Cha i rpe rson o f  the  board  and she  

shows spec ia l  in te res t  in  the  se t t lement  o f  S iyaya  c la ims 

and they say,  cont rary  what  you say you w i l l  te l l  me and  

you sa id  you w i l l  g ive  de ta i l s ,  they  say the re  were  many 
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cases a t  PRASA but  she on ly  showed in te res t  in  the  S iyaya  

ones.   They sa id  there  were  many  o thers ,  she jus t  wanted  

S iyaya c la ims to  be  pa id .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And they say she s ide l ined the  lega l  

depar tment  o f  PRASA,  tha t  i s  peop le  who have  a lways  

been hand l ing  PRASA mat te rs ,  lega l  mat te rs  in te rna l l y  and 

they say,  acco rd ing  to  Mr  Mogashoa,  she,   th is  

Cha i rperson,   te l ls  Mr  Mogashoa do not  dea l  w i th  the  lega l  

depar tment  o f  PRASA anymore  and then they say the  next  10 

th ing ,  these mat te rs  a re  se t t led  and ac tua l l y  they say when  

you look a t  the  so-ca l led  se t t lement ,  i t  i s  no t  se t t lement ,  i t  

i s  cap i tu la t ion  by  PRASA.   When you look a t  the  amounts  

tha t  the  Cha i rperson sa id  must  be  pa id ,  i t  i s  exact ly  the  

amounts  t ha t  a re  c la imed by  the  S iyaya Group  aga ins t  

PRASA,  i t  i s  no t  a  compromise  o r  anyth ing  and she says 

we had to  in te rvene when the re  was a  new Min i s te r  o f  

Transpor t ,  Dr  B lade Nz imande,  we  had t  approach h im and  

say Min is te r,  there  i s  someth ing  wrong,  the re  was  

someth ing  wrong happen ing ,  PRASA is  about  to  lose  about  20 

I  do  no t  whethe r  i t  i s  59  m i l l ion  bu t  a  lo t  o f  m i l l ions  

because a  se t t lement  tha t  the  Cha i rperson has  pushed  

th rough.   We are  aga ins t  i t ,  p lease  in te rvene and then they  

go  to  cour t  and they say we succeeded u l t imate ly  to  s top  

th is .   They say the  Cha i rperson had no author i t y  to  se t t le  
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these mat te rs ,  the  au tho r i t y  was w i th  the  head o f  the  lega l  

depar tment  and they say we successfu l l y  p revented PRASA 

f rom los ing  a  lo t  o f  money tha t  PRASA was go ing  to  lose 

because o f  th is  Cha i rperson and they say s ince  we 

succeeded the  S iyaya compan ies  have never  pursued  

these c la ims,  th i s  a rb i t ra t ion  tha t  was supposed to  go  on .   

That  i s  what  they  sa id .  

 So th is  Commiss ion  is  look ing  in to  tha t  to  see 

whethe r  –  exact ly  what  happened.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Thank you ,  Cha i r,  we w i l l  obv ious ly  10 

ge t  to  the  o ther  de ta i l s .   You remember  we jus t  s topped 

where  I  had ta lked about  the  repor ts  o f  the  Commiss ioner  

and then we then  came to  –  we spent  maybe the  las t  hour  

ta lk ing  about  my  appo in tment .   But  I  am go ing  to  deny  

every th ing  tha t  they a re  say ing .    

I  am go ing  to  show you tha t  I  am never  one pe rson 

tha t  takes shor tcu ts .   Even w i th  the  mat te r  o f  S iyaya there  

is  a  -  and I  w i l l  deny tha t  i t  i s  my dec is ion  and even w i th  

the  S iyaya mat te r  I  a lways –  or  my board  a lways i nvo lved 

the  in te rna l  aud i t o r.   I  have reques t  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    in te rna l  aud i to r?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  in  every  i ssue tha t  we were  

dea l ing  w i th  tha t  was requ i red ,  some –  so  there  is  –  I  w i l l  

show you,  Cha i rperson,  and I  th ink  you have seen f rom my 

s ta tement  tha t  my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  lega l  team,  no t  jus t  
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my re la t ionsh ip ,  my board ’s  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  two  

incumbents  o f  the  lega l  un i t  b roke down,  so  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Why d id  i t  b reak  down? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Pardon?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because as  I  unders tand the  pos i t ion  

f rom Ms Ngoy i  –  and I  may be misunders tand ing  her  

ev idence but  my  impress ion  i s  tha t  you s ide l ined them 

when –  you s ide l ined them and  they were  aga ins t  the  

se t t lement  o f  the  S iyaya c la ims because they be l ieved tha t  

PRASA has reasonab le  prospects  o f  success and ,  as  I  10 

ind ica ted  ear l ie r  on ,  Mr  D ing iswayo tes t i f ied  tha t  he  was 

to ld  by  Mr  Mogashoa who was PRASA’s  a t to rney tha t  you  

had sa id  the  PRASA a t to rneys must  no t  ta lk  to  the  lega l  

depar tment  a t  PRASA about  the  S iyaya c la ims.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  i t  when I  –  I  

do  no t  know what  w i l l  happen f i rs t ,  maybe ora l  ev idence or  

my s ta tement ,  bu t  I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  a l l  tha t  bu t  what  I  am 

say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  maybe i t  i s  in  tha t  –  in  the i r  

o ra l  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  a lso  in  the  a f f idav i t s .  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    In  the  a ff idav i t  o f  Ms Ngoy i  she  

ment ions …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms Ngoy i  re fe rs  to  i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    In  the  las t  pa ragraph,  yes ,  she  

ment ions tha t ,  she says I  may ment ion  tha t  the 



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 98 of 127 
 

Cha i rperson had been recommended as  a  judge –  bu t  she 

does not  make  any conc lus ions why tha t  i s  re levant ,  

Cha i rperson,  wh ich  is  why I  am ask ing  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  …[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Whethe r  there  i s  a  w i tness  who 

has g iven ev idence to  say tha t  I  went  –  le t  me not  say  

whethe r  because  there  i s  a  w i tness,  maybe we can ta lk  

about  h im,  Mr  Botes ,  Advocate  Botes .   Advocate  Botes  is  

the  on ly  w i tness who …[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  us  leave Advocate  Bo tes  fo r  10 

now.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  come back to  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr  

D ing iswayo.   What  do  you say to  Mr  D ing iswayo ’s  ev idence 

tha t  he  was to ld  by  Mr  Mogashoa tha t  you had to ld  Mr  

Mogashoa not  to  d iscuss the  S iyaya c la ims w i th  t he  lega l  

depar tment  and,  o f  course ,  you  w i l l  have seen  in  Mr  

Mogashoa ’s  a f f idav i t  tha t  he  con f i rms tha t  tha t  is  t rue .   

What  do  you say about  tha t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  deny tha t ,  Cha i rperson,  I  never  20 

to ld  Mr  Mogashoa not  to  communica te  w i th  the  lega l  

serv i ces  and I  th ink  I  ment ioned  in  my – the  prob lem is  

when there  are  mul t ip le  invest iga t ions you do not  know 

where  you ment ioned the  issue but  I  ment ioned i t  tha t  – 

because a t  the  JCC the  a l legat ion  is  I  te rm inated h is  
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mandate .   But  in  h is  own s ta tement  be fore  you,  Mr  

Mogashoa does not  say  tha t ,  he  says h i s  manda te  –  he  

exp la ins  who te rm inated h i s  mandate  under  what  

c i rcumstances.  

 So I  deny and I  w i l l  deny.   Anyway,  I  do  no t  even 

have to  dea l  w i th  whethe r  I  te rm inated h is  mandate  or  no t  

because in  h is  own words,  I  am not  the  one who te rminated  

h is  mandate  bu t  the  issue o f  communica t ion  w i th  h im,  I  

never  to ld  anyone not  to  communica te  w i th  h im and  as  you  

–  i t  i s  be ing  sa id ,  Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  someone say ing  I  was 10 

to ld  by  someone tha t  someone to ld  someone tha t  someone 

says th is  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:     I  never  had any d iscuss ion  o f  tha t  

na ture  w i th  Mr  Mogashoa.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you d id  have meet ings w i th  h im.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  the  sequence o f  event  w i th  

regard  to  the  communica t ion ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  the re  is  an  

emai l  tha t  I  took  except ion  to .   Here  is  an  execut ive  i s  

asked to  exp la in  someth ing ,  to  g ive  in fo rmat ion  because i t  20 

is  an  in fo rmat ion  seek ing  quest ion .   Can you te l l  me what  

happened here  and here  and here?  And then he takes tha t  

quest ion  to  Mr  Mogashoa to  answer  and I  sa id  there  is  an  

emai l  to  tha t  e f fec t .    

Th is  quest ion  I  wanted you to  answer  to  me 
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because before  you go and ask  ou ts iders  you need to  

unders tand f rom wi th in .  

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes,  bu t  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  tha t  does not  amount  to  me 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  you are  on  another  quest ion  now,  I  

am s t i l l  on  the  quest ion  o f  whether  on  your  den ia l  tha t  you  

to ld  Mr  Mogashoa  not  to  d iscuss the  S iyaya c la ims w i th  the  

lega l  team o f  –  lega l  depar tment  o f  PRASA.    

Why wou ld  –  i t  jus t  seems s t range tha t  an  a t to rney 10 

who gets  work  f rom PRASA and who is  work ing  w i th  the  

new Cha i rperson  o f  the  board  o f  PRASA wou ld  say to  

somebody in  t he  lega l  depar tment  o f  PRASA your  

Cha i rperson sa id  I  must  no t  d iscuss these mat te rs  w i th  you  

when in  fac t  tha t  i s  no t  so  and when in  fac t  he  expects  or  

wants  to  ge t  more  work  f rom th i s  Cha i rperson and PRASA? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  know,  Cha i rperson ,  bu t  i f  

you  were  to  a l low me an oppor tun i ty  to  dea l  w i th  th is  

s ta tement  because,  as  I  sa id ,  maybe I  have not  sa id  i t  here 

to  you but  we had meet ings and I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  what  20 

t ransp i red  in  those meet ings when Mr  Mogashoa came to  

PRASA and then  I  th ink  i t  was me and Mr  Z ide  was s t i l l  

ac t ing  and the  lega l  team was not  there  and I  asked where  

are  they?  And I  was g iven an excuse,  a  reason why they  

are  no t  there  and  I  th ink  I  say  i t  in  th is  s ta tement  and the  
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nex t  meet ing ,  where  i s  Ms Ngoy i ,  she is  no t  he re ,  she is  

supposed to  be  here?  And then  I  am to ld  –  I  th ink  the  

excuse then was there  was a  be reavement  a t  home.  

 And so ,  Cha i rperson,  a t  no  s tage was anyone 

exc luded or  to ld  no t  to  come.   And,  in  any  event ,  

Cha i rperson,  I  am go ing  to  deny the  vers ion  tha t  they have 

put  about  what  Mr  Mogashoa to ld  them tha t  I  have to ld  h im 

and i f ,  Cha i rpe rson,  th ing  has a  s t range fee l ing ,  maybe le t  

me answer  to  the  spec i f i c  a l legat ions because the re  is  a  

sequence o f  the  meet ings,  what  was d i scussed and who 10 

was there  and what  t ransp i red  la te r  on ,  Cha i rperson,  bu t  I  

am not ing  your  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a reas tha t  I  par t i cu la r l y  want  to  hear  

what  you have to  say about  i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  I  am not ing  what  you are  

say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  w i l l  address i t ,  Cha i rperson.  

 

CHAIRPERSON:    Now you re fe r  to  Mr  Botes .   Mr  Botes ,  20 

you re fer red  to  the  fac t  tha t  he  gave ev idence and sa id  you 

were  the  f i rs t  one  –  you contac ted  h im f i rs t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    About  the  S iyaya c lams and i t  i s  t rue ,  

tha t  i s  what  he  sa id  in  h i s  ev idence.   You have sa id  tha t  
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the  invest iga t ion  tha t  has been done by  the  invest iga tors  o f  

the  Commiss ion  suggest  tha t  the  probab i l i t ies  a re  tha t  he  

contac ted  you f i rs t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  

CHAIRPERSON:    And he w i l l  ge t  a  chance to  comment  on  

tha t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  I  have a  s ta tement  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    One o f  the  th ings he  has sa id  i s  tha t  in  

the  d iscuss ion  tha t  he  had w i th  you,  I  th ink  i t  was the  f i rs t  10 

one,  whether  he  ca l led  or  you ca l l ed  bu t  tha t  f i rs t  one  He  

sa id  tha t  you sa id  to  h im tha t  you had been appo in ted  or  

dep loyed a t  PRASA to  c lean up the  mess.   Do you want  to  

comment  on  tha t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  f i l ed  an  a f f idav i t ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and you deny tha t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  f i l ed  an  a f f idav i t ,  i t  i s  par t  o f  the  

Commiss ion ’s  record .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have a l ready den ied  –  used the  20 

word  dep loyed,  I  sa id  I  to ld  h im I  was dep loyed by  

Pres ident  Zuma to  PRASA and I  sa id  I  do  no t  even know 

Pres ident  Zuma,  I  have never  met  h im,  I  have never  seen –  

I  see h im on TV l i ke  any ord ina ry  South  A f r i can and I  sa id  

the  on ly  t ime I  have been w i th in  a  breath ing  space,  tha t  i s  
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the  word  I  used,  w i th  Pres ident  Zuma is  du r ing  the  

inaugura t ion  o f  Dr  Nkosazana Zuma a t  the  Un ivers i t y  o f  

L impopo las t  year  and tha t  i s  the  c losest  I  have ever  been.    

 I  am not  a  po l i t i c ian ,  I  have never  been a  po l i t i c ian ,  

I  unders tand the  word  dep loy  i s  used in  those c i rc les  bu t -  

and I  sa id ,  I  a lso  ske tched my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  Botes ,  

tha t  I  cou ld  no t  have d i scussed such th ings w i th  h im,  we  

are  no t  c lose ,  we  are  no t  f r iends,  I  do  no t  know what  k ind  

work  he  does,  he  does not  even know what  k ind  o f  work  I  

do ,  we have never  been br ie fed  by  the  same br ie f ing  10 

a t to rneys or  any th ing ,  I  have never  been to  h is  –  so  i t  

wou ld  be  s t range fo r  me.   You know,  Cha i rperson,  now 

when you –  you must  a lso  unders tand because th roughout  

you kept  on  us ing  the  word  i t  i s  s t range,  i t  i s  s t range,  i t  i s  

a lso  s t range fo r  me when someone wou ld  make those k ind  

o f  a l legat ions to  me.   

 And,  you know,  you get  to  a  po in t  when here  is  th is  

a l legat ion  and then you can on ly  g ive  your  vers ion  bu t  to  

the  m ind o f  the  next  pe rson i t  w i l l  s t i l l  no t  make sense but  

he  has no t  –  I  do  no t  know i f  he  has den ied  my asser t ions  20 

and remember  he  –  I  do  no t  know i f  he  came back to  the  

Commiss ion  bu t  I  to ld  the  Commiss ion  tha t  th is  person,  I  

la id  a  compla in t  aga ins t  and he says i t  was d ismissed.   I  

sa id  I  d id  no t  even know i t  was be ing  cons ide red,  he  to ld  

you tha t  I  was inv i ted  to  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing .   I  d id  no t  
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a t tend.   I  do  no t  know i f  he  has come back to  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  unders tand tha t  you deny what  he  sa id .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:  Yes,  I  deny …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    One o f  the  th ings he  sa id ,  I  m igh t  no t  

remember  the  exact  word ing  bu t  i t  re la ted  to  what  you 

thought  o f  the  lega l  depar tment  a t  PRASA and i f  I  reca l l  

cor rec t l y,  he  may  have suggested  tha t  you sa id  tha t  they 

were  undermin ing  you or  they were  no t  good enough,  I  10 

cannot  remember,  bu t  he  says tha t  i s  what  you sa id .   Do 

you remember  tha t  par t  in  h is  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  remember  per fec t l y,  Cha i rperson.   

Remember  he  is  the  person tha t  made me to  want  to  come 

and tes t i f y  because I  thought  h is  ev idence is  ou t  o f  th is  

wor ld .   He used  the  word  I  to ld  h im I  do  no t  t rus t  the  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You do not  t rus t  the  lega l  depar tment .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  t rus t  the  lega l  team,  they 

want  to  waste  PRASA’s  money by  go ing  to  a rb i t ra t ion ,  they  20 

are  undermin ing  me and I  den ied  and I  th ink  in  my 

response I  re fe r red  to  h is  emai l ,  the  emai l  tha t  we read  

when we s ta r ted ,  tha t  he  is  the  person tha t  uses tha t  k ind  

o f  language when he ta lks  to  peop le .   He,  in  tha t  emai l ,  

tha t  we ta lked about ,  Cha i rperson,  he  is  the  one who was 
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in t im ida t ing  the  l ega l  -  Mr  Mogashoa and Adv Tsa tswane  

ca l l ing  them you are  on  –  I  do  no t  know th i s  word ,  you are  

on  the  f ro l i c  o f  your  own and tha t  k ind  o f  language and you 

want  to  waste  money,  why do we  not  se t t le ,  why are  we  

s t i l l  go ing  on  arb i t ra t ion?  That  i s  when we s tar ted ,  Cha i r,  I  

sa id  even before  I  came in  the  p ic tu re  Adv Bo tes  was 

persuad ing  the  PRASA team to  se t t le  the  mat te rs .    

 So w i th  the  regard  to  the  underm in ing  par t ,  I  have 

in  my –  in  the  annexures,  the  Whatsapps and the  SMSes  

tha t  I  say  I  sent  bu t  they have not  been bund led  together,  I  10 

have shown in  one way was te l l ing  me tha t  the  lega l  team 

and the  peop le  a t  PRASA,  I  th ink  even the  CFO were  –  

they are  undermin ing  you,  you  are  a  person o f  g rea t  

in tegr i t y,  these peop le  are  undermin ing  you.   So he is  the  

one who was te l l ing  me tha t  I  am be ing  undermined,  I  have  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    How wou ld  he  have known tha t  they  

were  undermin ing  you?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Remember  he  was  mak ing  

enqu i r ies  about  the  payment  o f  the  c la ims.   The  c la ims  20 

were  se t t led  in  December  and then the re  was a  per iod  

where  i t  appeared there  were  no  prob lems and then the  

lega l  team sa id  t hey cannot  au tho r ise  the  payment ,  wh ich  

is  anothe r  th ing  why i t  wou ld  be  s t range  when the  peop le  

who a re  go ing  to  imp lement  payments  say ing  they have  
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been exc luded because everybody knows tha t  when i t  goes 

fo r  payment ,  the i r  s ignature  i s  requ i red  a t  some po in t .  

 So I  then sa id  to  Mr  Botes  ea r ly  in  January  o f  2018  

tha t  look ,  do  no t  make enqu i r ies  w i th  me,  dea l  w i th  –  I  

th ink  I  ac tua l l y  used the  word  l e t  your  a t to rneys hand le  

communica t ion  because I  cannot  he lp  you.  

 Then he wou ld  –  he  was pers is ten t  and then I  gave  

h im the  te lephone number  o f  the  new CEO who he was 

then communica t ing  w i th .   The ev idence is  there ,  

Cha i rperson,  when he packaged  the  documents  you w i l l  10 

see.   Then he was communica t ing  w i th  the  new CEO who  

was promis ing  h im tha t  the  c la ims  w i l l  be  pa id .  

 So i t  i s  in  tha t  contex t  when he  –  and he w i l l  be  

repor t ing  to  me tha t  no ,  today I  have spoken to  th is  person  

and th i s  i s  what  I  sa id .   I  sa id  look ,  I  am qu ie t  because I  

can see tha t  there  are  –  a l though they are  no t  say ing  i t  ou t  

loud,  I  can see –  I  can hear  in  the  cor r i dors  tha t  they are  

mak ing  a l legat ions tha t  these c la ims shou ld  no t  have been 

se t t led ,  so  I  do  no t  want  to  dea l  w i th  th is  mat te r  anymore  

and tha t  i s  when he was te l l ing  me tha t  they are  20 

undermin ing  you.   I t  i s  in  tha t  contex t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now you say you deny tha t  –  you deny 

h is  s ta tement  tha t  he  sa id  you to ld  h im tha t  you  d id  no t  

t rus t  the  lega l  depar tment  o f  PRASA.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  yes .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you t rus t  the  lega l  depar tment  o f  

PRASA? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  sa id  when we s ta r ted ,  we s tar ted 

very  we l l ,  we had  meet ings where  we were  go ing  to  d iscuss  

cer ta in  i ssues and …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Go c loser  to  the  m ic .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    We had meet ings where  we 

d iscussed ce r ta in  i ssues and ou r  d iscuss ions were  open,  

they were  g iv ing  me in fo rmat ion  and then we …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  d id  you t rus t  them?  That  i s  the  10 

quest ion .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    A t  tha t  s tage yes,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ear l ie r  on .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Ear l ie r  on .   Our  re la t ionsh ip  broke 

down because I  d id  no t  even  know they were  no t  

suppor t ing  the  se t t lement .   Our  re la t ionsh ip  broke down in  

–  a f te r  the  lega l  pane l  o f  PRASA was suspended,  there  

was –  the  board  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  was on the  1  December  when i t  was 

suspended,  i f  I  reca l l  co r rec t l y.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes bu t  then the  issues came to  

head beg inn ing  o f  the  year.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    When Ms Ngoy i  was asked to  wr i te  

a  repor t  to  the  board  and then she wro te  tha t  repor t  wh ich  
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she  was not  suppor t i ve  o f  tha t  dec is ion ,  the  dec i s ion  had  

a l ready been taken and the  repor t  was ve ry  c r i t i ca l  o f  the 

board  and then tha t  her  repor t  was leaked to  the  med ia  and  

i t  was then pub l i shed in  some newspapers  and then i t  was  

then used by  Un i te  Beh ind  when they cha l lenged the  

dec is ions o f  the  in te r im board .  

 So then –  tha t  i s  when our  re la t ionsh ip ,  no t  jus t  

w i th  me,  w i th  the  board ,  b roke down.   So f rom the re  they 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You d id  no t  t rus t  them a f te r  tha t?  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  I  had a  conversa t ion  w i th  her  

tha t  look ,  the  repor t  tha t  you have wr i t ten  to  the  board ,  can 

you say someth ing  because i t  i s  in  the  newspapers  and i t  

i s  be ing  used by  peop le  who are  cha l leng ing  the  dec is ions 

or  the  dec is ions o f  the  board ,  can you say someth ing  so  

tha t  th is  i ssue can ca lm down?  And she re fused  to ,  she 

sa id  no ,  she i s  no t  w i l l i ng  to  do  tha t  because what  she has  

sa id  i s  co r rec t  and I  wou ld  no t  want  to  use the  word  t rus t ,  

Cha i rperson,  because I  do  no t  unders tand the  con tex t  o r  

the  mean ing  o f  the  word  when you say d id  I  t rus t  her  o r  20 

no t ,  I  am us ing  the  word  the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween lega l  

serv i ces  and the  board  b roke down and then …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you do not  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  cannot  say  because I  never  had 

any dea l ings w i th  them a f te r  tha t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you see,  we f i rs t  –  we ta lked about  

Mr  Botes ’ ev idence,  tha t  you to ld  h im tha t  you d id  no t  t rus t  

PRASA’s  lega l  depar tment .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you sa id  you deny tha t  you to ld  h im  

tha t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  my quest ion  arose  out  o f  tha t  to  say 

d id  you t rus t  them? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  sa id  in  the  beg inn ing  10 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you can ’ t  say  you unders tood what  

t rus t  means when  I  was say ing  Mr  Botes  has sa id  you sa id  

you d idn ’ t  t rus t  them,  bu t  you don ’ t  unders tand i t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No I  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  ask  you whether  you t rus ted  them.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No I  sa id  in  the  beg inn ing  we had  

a  good re la t ionsh ip ,  bu t  then a f te r  the  suspens ion  o f  the 

lega l  pane l  there  was tha t  d iscord  be tween them and the  20 

Board  and I  never  had any dea l ings w i th  them,  so  I  don ’ t  –  

I  don ’ t ,  I  d idn ’ t  use  the  word  t rus t ,  I  sa id  we had a  good 

re la t ionsh ip  in  the  beg inn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And then i t  b roke down,  no t  jus t  
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w i th  me,  bu t  w i th  the  en t i re  Board ,  then unt i l  –  un t i l  they  

were  work ing  aga ins t  the  Board  and I  have proof ,  I  w i l l  

p rove to  the  Cha i rpe rson tha t  they  were  work ing  aga ins t  us  

and unt i l  –  because Cha i rperson  i f  –  i f  they  had  maybe  

because even i f  i t  i s  a  board  tha t  i s  no t  lawfu l  o r  p roper ly  

const i tu ted  there  wou ld  have been someone in  the  Board  

tha t  they wou ld  have t rus ted  to  t ake  the  prob lems to ,  but  

they never  d id ,  and then they were  do ing  the i r  th ings and  

then go ing  beh ind  everybody ’s  back un t i l  the  Min is te r  and  

unt i l  the  mat te r  i s  be fore  the  Commiss ion  today.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  d id  you invo lve  them in  d iscuss ing  

the  mer i t s  o r  demer i t s  o f  se t t l ing  the  S iyaya c la ims,  d id  

you have a  d i scuss ion  w i th  them to  say as  peop le  who had 

been dea l ing  w i th  these c la ims fo r  some t ime as  the  lega l  

depar tment  be fore  you came you  say le t ’s  ta l k  about  the  

d i f fe rences tha t  you are  pu t t ing  up  aga ins t  these  c la ims 

and le t ’s  look  a t  the  ev idence,  d id  you have tha t  

engagement  w i th  them before  you or  your  Board  ins t ruc ted 

tha t  those c la ims be se t t led?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Cha i rperson I  have  a l ready  20 

ment ioned tha t  in  the  –  a f te r  tha t  f i rs t  memorandum they 

d id  no t  respond to  i t ,  they  ask  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    They d id  no t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    They d id  no t  respond  to  the  

memorandum,  they ins tead asked  Mr  Mogashoa to  g ive  a  
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repor t  and the  repor t  tha t  Mr  Mogashoa was g iv ing  was 

about  the  p lead ings,  what  they have p leaded in  cour t ,  bu t  

they,  and I  ment ioned i t  in  my memorandum,  tha t  Ms Ngoye 

appeared to  have  some fa in t ,  they  were  no t  aware  o f  what  

was happen ing ,  i f  I  can  put  i t  l i ke  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes about  the  c la ims.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    About  the  s ta tus  o f  the  mat te r,  tha t  

even the  inso lvency inqu i ry,  the  s ta tus  o f  the  mat te r  and 

when I  enqu i red  and I  say  i t  in  my s ta tement ,  tha t  when a  

head o f  the  –  and le t  me cor rec t  Ms Ngoye,  Ms Ngoye is  10 

no t  –  does not  have,  she appears  to  th ink  she is  the 

l i t iga t ion  manager,  l i t i ga t ion  is  the  head o f  th ree  un i ts ,  

LRC,  Lega l ,  R isk  and Compl iance,  the  lega l  manager  i s  Mr  

D ing iswayo.  

 So i f  they  do  not  know the  s ta tus  o f  the  mat te r  

Cha i rperson and  I  say  i t  in  my s ta tement  when I  

compla ined about  Advocate  Bo tes ,  i t  jus t  shows the  

neg l igent  manner  in  wh ich  the  mat te r  was be ing  hand led  

and you cannot  say  in  fu tu re  I  in tend to  –  I  in tended to 

p lead . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  remember  what  my quest ion  is ,  my 

quest ion  i s  d id  you invo lve  them,  d id  you engage them,  the  

Lega l  Depar tment  in  d iscuss ing  the  mer i t s  and demer i t s  o f  

se t t l ing  the  S iyaya c la ims?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Cha i rpe rson I  sa id  –  the  answer  I  
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g ive  I  sa id  I  d id  and they d id  no t  g ive  me a  repor t ,  ins tead 

they asked the i r  a t to rney,  the i r  ex terna l  a t to rney to  answer  

on  the i r  beha l f ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  my response.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So is  the  pos i t ion  tha t  the i r  on ly  

invo l vement  in  regard  to  the  process tha t  led  to  the 

se t t lement  o f  the  S iyaya c la ims  was the i r  invo lvement  

l im i ted  to  the  fac t  tha t  you asked fo r  a  repor t  f rom them 

about  the  s ta tus  o f  the  mat te rs  and they asked the  PRASA 

a t to rney to  p repare  a  repor t ,  i s  tha t  what  you are  say ing ,  

o r  do  I  m isunders tand what  you are  say ing?  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  asked h im to  prepare  a  repor t ,  

and I  sa id ,  bu t  then I  want  to  know f rom you because yes 

the  a t to rney can prepare  a  repor t ,  bu t  I  don ’ t  know 

Cha i rperson i f  they  have g i ven you any repor t  w r i t ten  by  

them to  me on the  mat te rs ,  and be fore  I  fo rge t  Cha i rpe rson  

there ’s  a  document  tha t  I  am go ing  to  g ive  you wh ich  is  a  

le t te r  tha t  the  Board  d i rec ted  shou ld  be  wr i t ten  to  them,  Ms  

Ngoye,  th is  i s  a f te r  she had gone to  the  Min is te r  to  say 

g ive  us  a  repor t  on  these mat te rs .  

CHAIRPERSON:    On the  S iyaya c la ims?  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  on  the  repor ts  on  S iyaya,  on  

S iyaya,  on  the  ev idence,  i t  was i n  e f fec t  ask ing  her  tha t  

s ince  she now says the  c la ims  shou ld  no t  have been  

se t t led  can you p lease prov ide  the  Board  w i th  in fo rmat ion ,  

repor ts  f rom the  peop le  tha t  you say are  say ing ,  tha t  
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tes t i f ied .   Remember  she is  cha l leng ing ,  I  say  we consu l ted  

w i th  those peop le  bu t  then she says no  they gave – she 

a lso  consu l ted ,  so  the  Board  wanted . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    . . .her  to  address the  mer i t s  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no  you are  go ing  outs ide  my 

quest ion .    Can I  pu t  i t  th is  way.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    From what  you  are  say ing  i t  seems to  10 

me tha t  your  answer  i s  yes  the  on ly  invo l vement  the  lega l  

depar tment  had in  the  process towards th is ,  tha t  led  to  the  

se t t lement  o f  the  c la ims,  was when you requested a  repor t  

and they go t  the  a t to rney to  send a  repor t  p lus  what  you 

have added but  in  te rms o f  engag ing  and d iscuss ing  the  

mer i t s  and the  lega l  i ssues and why i t  shou ld  be  se t t led ,  

the  mat te r  shou ld  be  se t t led  or  no t  be  se t t led  tha t  d id  no t  

happen,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    They d id  no t  a t tend the  mee t ings,  I  

th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes o f  course  i f  they  don ’ t  a t tend the  

meet ing  tha t  means they do  not  engage.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  thought  I  a l ready sa id  tha t  the  

meet ings were  schedu led  and on ly  Mr  Mogashoa came and 

then –  and remember  the  repor t ing  l ines ,  they were  
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repor t ing  to  the  CEO,  and then I  wou ld  be  ask ing  the  CEO,  

bu t  in  th is  meet ing  we a re  supposed to  have the  mandate ,  

he  w i l l  g ive  a  reason why they  are  no t  there ,  and the  

meet ings wou ld  cont inue,  bu t  they had a l ready g i ven tha t  

repor t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    By  Mr  –  tha t  g ives ,  i t  was ac tua l l y  

a  s ta tus  repor t  to  say we f i led  a  p lea ,  th is  i s  the  p lea ,  and  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  who exact ly  was –  d id  you invo lve  i n  10 

d iscuss ing  the  mer i t s  and demer i t s  on  whether  to  se t t le  

these c la ims and i f  so  a t  what  amounts?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  sa id  in  my s ta tement  Cha i rperson  

tha t  there  is  a  de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y,  a  de lega t ion  o f  

au thor i t y  tha t  I  have tha t  the  Board ,  my Board  was g iven,  

i s  a t tached in  some documents  and I  have a lso  a t tached 

the  emai l  f rom the  Secre ta ry  t ransmi t t ing  tha t  de legat ion  o f  

au thor i t y  to  the  Board  members  and I  have a lso  sa id  the  

reason I  am say ing  th is  i s  because I  see Ms Ngoye has 

a t tached her  de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y  wh ich  I  do  no t  know,  20 

bu t  in  te rms o f  the  au thor i t y  you  now who de legate  tha t  

au thor i t y  the re  wou ld  be  l im i ts  fo r  each person o r  o f f i ce 

incumbent ,  so  these,  the  execut ives  wh ich  there  w i l l  be  the 

lega l  manager  wh ich  is  Mr  D ing iswayo,  he  wou ld  have lega l  

team,  he  wou ld  have h i s  f inanc ia l  l im i t  as  the  head,  overa l l  



05 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 245 
 

Page 115 of 127 
 

head o f  tha t  sec t ion .   The Group CEO wou ld  have a  l im i t ,  

then the  Board  w i l l  have a  l im i t .   The c la ims fe l l  w i th in  the  

de legated author i t y  o f  a  g roup CEO,  so  I  deny tha t  in  te rms  

o f  de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y  i t  was w i th in  Ms  Ngoye ’s  

au thor i t y,  in  te rms o f  the  document  in  my possess ion  she 

d id  no t  have tha t  k ind  o f  au thor i t y,  have author i t y  and tha t  

somewhere  and  the  c la ims were  w i th in  the  de legated 

author i t y  o f  the  g roup CEO,  no t  even w i th in  the  –  because  

when –  once i t  ge ts  to  above m i l l ion  tha t  wou ld  be  the  

Board ,  bu t  be tween –  be fore  one –  no t  one mi l l ion ,  10 

hundred mi l l ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Don ’ t  wor ry  about  the  f igures  because  

we can a lways . . . [ in te rvenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes bu t  the  po in t  I  am mak ing  is  I  

deny tha t  i t  was w i th in  he r  au thor i t y,  in  te rms  o f  the  

documents  tha t  were  g iven to  the  Board  and i f  there ’s  any 

de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y  tha t  she has then she mis led  the  

Board ,  o r  someone mis led  the  Board  because the  one tha t  I  

have says what  I  am te l l ing  you.     

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t ’s  f ine  bu t  you wou ld  be  aware  20 

tha t  in  her  a f f idav i t  Ms Ngoye e f fec t i ve ly,  as  I  unders tand  

her  ev idence,  says tha t  the  Cour t  resc inded the  order  tha t  

i t  had made on the  bas is  o f  the  arb i t ra t ion  awards tha t  had 

been awarded to ,  g iven to  the  S iyaya compan ies ,  on  the  

bas is  tha t  you or  the  –  you d id  no t  have author i t y  to  se t t le  
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those c la ims because in  o rde r  to  se t t le ,  to  have those  

c la ims se t t led ,  cer ta in  p rocedura l  s teps had  to  be  taken  

wh ich  had not  been taken.    You wou ld  have seen  tha t  in  

her  a f f idav i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  haven ’ t  seen tha t  Cha i rperson,  I  

remember  when I  say  I  read her  overa l l  a f f idav i t  there ’s  

somewhere  where  she says her  se t t lement ,  the  arb i t ra to r  

se t  as ide  the  se t t lement ,  I  d id  no t  ge t  a  sense tha t  i t  was a  

se t t ing  as ide  by  the  Cour t ,  bu t  what  –  remember  what  

Advocate  Botes  says,  Advocate  Botes  says PRASA d id  10 

app ly  to  se t  as ide  the  se t t lemen t .   The mat te r  was se t  

down fo r  some t ime I  th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  th is  i s  wha t  happened accord ing  to  

the  ev idence tha t  has been led  here .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You ins t ruc ted  tha t  the  c la ims,  you and  

your  Board ,  ins t ruc ted  tha t  the  S iyaya c la ims be se t t led  

and a  se t t lement  agreement  o r  agreements ,  I  am no t  sure ,  

were  inc luded and f rom there  the  PRASA lawyer  and the  

S iyaya lawyers  went  to  the  arb i t ra to r  who was supposed to  20 

arb i t ra te  t he  c la ims,  Judge B rand,  and sa id  there  has been 

se t t lement ,  p lease make the  se t t lement  an  arb i t ra t ion  

award  by  ag reement  and tha t  was done,  and then when 

PRASA d id  no t  pay even when tha t  s tep  had been taken 

the  S iyaya compan ies  went  to  Cour t  to  make tha t  
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a rb i t ra t ion  award  an  order  o f  cour t .   I t  was made an order  

o f  cour t  and subsequent ly  the  Lega l  Depar tment  had to 

approach the  Cour t  f i rs t  to  in te rd ic t  the  Sher i f f  f rom pay ing  

over  PRASA’s  money to  S iyaya and second ly  to  resc ind  the  

order  on  the  bas i s  tha t  you or  you r  Board  had no author i t y  

to  se t t le  the  mat te rs .   That  i s  what  she says.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No Cha i rperson.   Cha i rpe rson is  

read ing  the  documents  wrong.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Le t  me co r rec t  you.    The –  be fore  10 

under  th is  case number  tha t  I  sa id  there ’s  an  a f f idav i t  yes  

the  awards o f  Judge B rand were  based on the  se t t lement .   

Then Judge Ho l land-Müter  made  the  arb i t ra t ion  awards  

orders  o f  Cour t .   Then PRASA wen t  to  Cour t  to  in te rd ic t  the  

Sher i f f ,  because  the  m inute  they were  made o rders  o f  

Cour t  then the  Sher i f f  a t tached I  th ink  i t  was –  i t  was  

money,  no t  I  th ink .  

 Then PRASA went  to  Cour t  to  cha l lenge the  

war ran ts ,  to  se t  as ide  the  war ran ts  wh i ls t  wa i t ing  to  

resc ind  the  o rde rs  o f  Act ing  Judge Ho l land-Müte r.   That  20 

app l i ca t ion  came before  Judge  Tuchten resc inded the  

orders  tha t  made the  arb i t ra t ion  awards orders  o f  cour t .   

That ’s  when Judge Tuchten sa id  the  se t t lement  i s  s t i l l  i n  

fo rce  and Makhube le  w i l l  have her  day when the re  is  an  

app l i ca t ion  to  se t  as ide  the  se t t lement  ag reements  
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because tha t  i s  where  I  was invo l ved,  bu t  in  the  meant ime 

i f  tha t  en forcement  app l i ca t ion ,  you ca l led  i t  en forcement  

app l i ca t ion ,  to  en force  the  se t t lement ,  i s  no t  – there  won ’ t  

be  an  appropr ia te  fo rum,  then Makhube le  there  must  be  

another  fo rum fo r  Makhube le  to  s ta te  her  case,  so  as  fa r  

as  the  Cour t s  a re  concerned tha t  –  those se t t lements  have  

not  been se t  as ide  and then Advocate  Botes  says the  

mat te r  was se t  down to  dec ide  on  the  fa te  o f  those  

se t t lements ,  bu t  then i t  was removed f rom the  ro l l  I  th ink  

las t  year,  tha t  i s  the  s ta tus .  10 

 So tha t  i s  the  s ta tus  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  you do accept  tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:      So  then  what  was be ing  sa id  Ms  

Ngoye in  her  a f f idav i t  sa id  she is  go ing  to  jo in  me when 

there  is  tha t  app l i ca t ion  to  se t  as ide  the  se t t lement  

agreement .   Remember  now I  am the  one who ac ted  

un lawfu l l y,  and w i thout  my invo lvement  obv ious ly,  I  mean  

in  those proceed ings i f  I  dec ide  to  oppose,  and I  don ’ t  

th ink  I  wou ld  have wanted to  ge t  invo lved,  because  I  don ’ t  20 

know but  I  say  in  my s ta tement  I  have never  been –  I  have 

never  been found  gu i l t y,  tha t  i s  what  I  am emphas iz ing  tha t  

no  one,  no  Cour t  has ever  found me gu i l t y  o f  anyth ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  do  you say about  the  compla in t  

tha t  you were  runn ing  a  board  tha t  d id  no t  have a  quorum,  
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tha t  a l l  o f  these th ings tha t  were  be ing  done by  the  Board  

was be ing  done  by  a  Board  tha t  was not  const i tu ted  in  

te rms o f  the  app l i cab le  ac t  and i t  had no author i t y  to  do  

anyth ing  un t i l  i t  was p roper l y  const i tu ted .  

 As  I  unders tand the  Act ,  and you must  te l l  me i f  you 

unders tand yours  d i f fe ren t ly,  i t  i s  d i f fe ren t ,  my  

unders tand ing  is  tha t  you needed,  your  board  needed to  

have seven members ,  some o f  whom had to  have  cer ta in  

exper t i se  bu t  your  Board  on ly  had s ix  members  and tha t  

the  m inutes  w i l l  show tha t  there  was no meet ing  dur ing  10 

your  t ime,  o r  ra ther  some o f  the  m inutes  where  meet ings 

apparent ly  were  he ld  show s ix  members  o r  f i ve  members ,  I  

don ’ t  know whether  the  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h  o f  March there  

was a  new member  wh ich  came,  what  do  you say about  

tha t?    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    There  i s  an  app l i ca t ion  be fore  the  

Weste rn  Cape H igh Cour t  on  tha t  very  mat te r  Cha i r,  I  

wou ld  no t  want  to  venture  and answer  w i thout  p roper ly  

app ly ing  my mind ,  i t  i s  a  lega l  a rgument  tha t  I  –  i t  is  be fore  

Cour t  and PRASA f i led  an  a f f idav i t  to  rep ly  to  tha t ,  I  was 20 

not  kept  abreast ,  I  was not  ce r ta in  i f  the  mat te r,  bu t  I  am 

not  ce r ta in  i f  the  mat te r  has been f ina l i sed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  wou ld  no t ,  I  know there ’s  an  

argument  tha t  was p laced before  Cour t ,  I  w i l l  have to  –  I  
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w i l l  have to  re f resh my mind about  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t ’s  f ine  because we are  no t  

f in ish ing  today.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i t  i s  someth ing  qu i te  impor tan t  

because my own unders tand ing  is  tha t  one  o f  the  

respons ib i l i t i es  o f  the  Cha i rpe rson o f  any meet ing ,  

inc lud ing  a  Board  meet ing ,  i s  to  f i rs t  sa t i s fy  themse lves 

tha t  there  is  a  quorum before  they can do any bus iness 

and there fo re  one wou ld  expect  tha t  i s  someth ing  tha t  you  10 

wou ld  have looked a t  and probab ly  you have a  v iew as to  w 

whethe r  tha t  what  they say is  cor rec t  o r  no t .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes we l l  as  I  say  I  be l ieve  there  is  

a  lega l  a rgument  tha t  i s  a foo t ,  I  don ’ t  want  to  venture  i t ,  i t  

i s  qu i te  a  long t ime,  I  need to  read the  papers .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  is  f ine .  The las t  quest ion  

fo r  today,  fo r  th is  even ing  fo r  me is ,  one I  ta lked about  

someth ing  tha t  I  sa id  seemed s t range to  me,  another  one  

tha t  seem s t range to  me is  tha t  the  so-ca l led  se t t lement  o f  

the  S iyaya c la ims your  ins t ruc t ion ,  o r  your  Board ’s  20 

ins t ruc t ion  was e f fec t i ve l y  as  re f lec ted  in  the  se t t lement  

was e f fec t i ve ly  tha t  PRASA must  pay exact ly  in  regard  to  

each o f  I  th ink  about  four  c la ims the  amount  tha t  was  

c la imed and the  in te res t  tha t  was,  the  in te res t  I  th ink  

runn ing  f rom the  date  o f  serv i ce  o f  summons,  the  on ly  
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th ing  tha t  I  th ink  wasn ’ t  there  is  tha t  PRASA must  pay  

costs .   That  d idn ’ t  seem to  me a  usua l  se t t lement .    In  a 

se t t lement  one wou ld  normal ly  see tha t  the  p la in t i f f  

c la imed f i ve  m i l l i on  bu t  the  ac tua l  se t t lement  i s  less  than  

tha t ,  because the  par t ies  are  t ry ing  to  se t t le  so  tha t  they 

don ’ t  end up in  cour t .   A re  you ab le  to  say anyth ing  about  

tha t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Not  a t  th is  s tage Cha i rperson,  as  I  

sa id  when I  was dea l ing  w i th  tha t  repor t  and tha t  the  

ev idence o f  –  o r  ra ther  the  submiss ions o f  the  re levant  10 

peop le  w i th  regard  to  –  remember  w i th  some c la ims the re  

wou ld  have been ,  the  issue i s  the  amount  and then they 

wou ld  have ind ica ted  tha t  the  co r rec t  amount  i s  he re  and I  

don ’ t  want  to  venture  and answer  w i thout  look ing  in to  the  

documents  bu t  I  have noted your  quest ion  and  your  –  

ra the r  your  –  wha t  makes you fee l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Some o f  th is  what  I  cons ide r  to  be ,  what  

seemed to  me to  be  s t range fea tures .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    To  be  s t range yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  wh ich  you might  be  ab le  to  exp la in  20 

and once you have exp la ined they m ight  no t  be  s t range.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  and  I  may not  be  ab le  to  

exp la in  tha t  bu t  then I  am – you know Cha i rperson  

remember  there  are  submiss ions by  a  person who says she  

is  no t  t ry ing  to  te l l  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  her  content ions 
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a re  cor rec t  and she is  someone  who has these  s t range 

fee l ings  about  documents  and obv ious ly  those who were  

there  must  be  ab le  to  exp la in  Cha i rperson.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  no  i t  i s  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  i t  i s  a  –  bu t  a t  the  end  o f  the  

day I  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  a  way o f  be ing  fa i r  to  you to  say you 

must  know what  i s  we igh ing  in  my mind so  tha t  you can  

address i t  p roper ly.    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have seen tha t  and I  have seen 10 

Mr  Mogashoa ’s  response,  because you know when th ings 

happen in  the  presence o f  a t to rneys they wou ld  know what  

to  ca l l  the  le t te r,  you wr i te  w i thout  p re jud i ce ,  w i th  

p re jud ice ,  i t  i s  a  se t t lement ,  i t  i s  what ,  and i t  i s  th ings tha t  

happen under  d i rec t ion  o f  lega l  adv i ce .   I t  i s  on ly  lawyers  

who wou ld  be  ab le  to  exp la in  the  word ing  and I  wou ld  say I  

re l ied  on  these exp lanat ions bu t  I  f i rs t  need to  look  a t  the 

documents .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   We are  go ing  to  

ad journ  now,  you  must  then remember  tha t  next  t ime you  20 

must  have –  you  must  have looked a t  a l l  the  documents 

tha t  you may w ish  to  look  a t  so  tha t  we can dea l  w i th  

every th ing ,  bu t  in  par t i cu la r  you w i l l  remember  fo r  when we  

resume next  t ime tha t  you w i l l  be  look ing  –  among o ther  

th ings you w i l l  be  look ing  a t  the  issue o f  what  work  you d id  
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a t  Water  Tr ibuna l  a r is ing  f rom the  fac t  tha t  I  sa id  the  le t te r  

tha t  the  Judge Pres ident  wro te  to  the  Min is te r  about  the  

de ferment  o f  your  appo in tment  gave your  work  a t  the  Water  

Tr ibuna l  as  the  reason.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  sa id  I  don ’ t  have tha t  le t te r,  can 

someone . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no ,  you  w i l l  ge t  the  le t te r.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Can someone g ive  me tha t  le t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t  le t te r  as  we l l  as  the  

cor respondence f rom the  Wate r  Tr ibuna l ,  as  I  sa id  to  you,  10 

they sa id  there  was on ly  one appea l  bu t  even tha t  one 

appea l  was on the  head in  2017  and not  in  2018  so  you  

can look a t  a l l  o f  those th ings,  you can a lso  have a  look  

and be ab le  to  say he re  are  cases I  don ’ t  know what  they 

are  ta lk ing  about  tha t  I  was invo l ved in  and in  te rms o f  

wrapp ing  up your  lega l  p rac t ice  a lso  you gave us  

in fo rmat ion ,  you sa id  you appeared in  seven cour t s ,  what  

you are  ab le  to  g i ve  us .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  w i l l  a lso  g ive  you  what  we 

were  do ing  a t  PRASA.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  ja ,  do  tha t  as  we l l .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because o f  th is  be l ie f  tha t  there  

was an obsess ion  w i th  the  one mat te r,  and Cha i rperson i f  I  

may a lso  say I  w i l l  a lso ,  I  d id  ind ica te  to  you tha t  I  wou ld  

a lso  –  I  was read ing  the  ru les  tha t  i f  par t  o f  my response  
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w i l l  po in t  to  i r regu la r i t ies ,  remember  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms 

Ngoye says she wants  to  h igh l igh t  the  –  where  the  leaders  

were  found want ing  in  va r ious repor ts  o f  AG’s ,  PP and  

Nat iona l  Treasury,  and Cha i rperson I  must  say  r i gh t  now 

tha t  she on ly  ta lks  about  me as  a  person,  as  i f  I  am – I  was 

there  a lone,  bu t  she does not  ta lk  about  herse l f ,  there  are  

i r regu lar i t ies  invo lv ing  he r,  Ms Ngoye and Mr  D ing iswayo 

wh ich  I  am go ing  to  ta lk  about  and requ i re  an  invest iga t ion  

by  th is  Commiss ion  because once I  ment ion  i t  there  i s  tha t  

ob l iga t ion .    10 

 She doesn ’ t  ta lk  about  the  i r regu lar i t ies  under  the  

Board  o f  Mr  Popo Mole fe ,  wh ich  I  am a lso  go ing  to  ta lk  

about .   She on ly  wants  to  ta lk  about  me as  i f  I  am jus t  th is  

b ranch,  l i te ra l l y  b ranch tha t  was put  there  a t  PRASA wi th  

jus t  on  my own you know wi thout  –  and she fo rge ts  about  

herse l f  and the  o ther  Boards where  there  a re  i r regu lar i t ies  

tha t  have been f lagged by  the  Aud i to r  Genera l .   We need to 

ta lk  about  every th ing ,  i r regu lar i t ies ,  co r rup t ion ,  

ma ladmin is t ra t ion  does not  change  i t s  name depend ing  on  

who is  invo lved.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  no ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .    We are  

go ing  to  ad journ ,  I  ind ica ted  on Monday tha t  I  was look ing  

a t  the  17h o f  August .   I  am go ing  to  f i x  tha t  da te  bu t  tha t  i s  

–  tha t  may change because the  Commiss ion  w i l l  ta lk  to  

your  JP but  you ind ica ted  on Monday tha t  you might  w ish  
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to  ta lk  to  h im as we l l  to  see i f  you  can get  some leave so  

tha t  you can a t tend to  th is  mat te r.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    P roper ly,  so  we  w i l l  ad journ  to  the  17 t h  

bu t  be tween now and the  17 t h  there  w i l l  be  communica t ion 

be tween the  Commiss ion  and yourse l f  and the  JP.   That  

da te  m ight  s tand ,  the  da te  m ight  change,  bu t  everybody 

w i l l  be  adv ised.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  may ment ion  th rough you Cha i r  

tha t  I  have a l ready sent  the  communica t ion  to  JP Mlambo 10 

las t  n igh t  tha t  I  requ i re  t ime,  I  have requested tha t  he  must  

g ran t  me spec ia l  leave,  because remember  i t  i s  no t  jus t  

th is  mat te r,  the  JSC is  s i t t ing  in  October,  so  I  want  to  dea l  

w i th  a l l  these mat te rs  w i thout  the  pressures o f  work ,  so  I  

am look ing  a t  be ing  re leased fo r  qu i te  some t ime to  a t tend 

to  a l l  these mat te rs  because Cha i r  I  need – I  a lso  need to  

ob ta in  the  serv ices  o f  someone to  ass is t  me to  d ra f t  the  

a f f idav i t s  tha t  I  must  d ra f t  so  I  am go ing  to  fo l low  up w i th  

JP what  h is  pos i t ion  is  bu t  I  don ’ t  jus t  want  to  re leased fo r  

a  week,  I  want  t ime to  dea l  w i th  a l l  these mat te rs ,  bu t  we  20 

shou ld  know maybe before  the  end  o f  th is  week.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay no  tha t ’s  f ine .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you Judge Makhube le .   Mr  Son i  

do  you want  to  say someth ing?  
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ADV SONI  SC:    Yes.   Cha i rpe rson before  we ad journ  you  

w i l l  reca l l  tha t  on  Monday bes ides the  quest ion  o f  Judge 

Makhube le  tes t i f y ing  today you had ra i sed the  quest ion  o f  

the  s ta tus  o f  the  lega l  team,  namely  whethe r  we wou ld  

cont inue ou r  pa r t i c ipa t ion  o r  no t ,  and i t  depended as  I  

unders tood i t  on  heads o f  a rgument  be ing  f i led  by  Judge  

Makhube le  on  Fr iday and ou r  f i l i ng  heads o f  a rgument  by  

Wednesday next  week.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes tha t  s t i l l  s tands ja .  

ADV SONI  SC:   We wou ld  l i ke  tha t  to  s tand.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t  s t i l l  s tands.  

ADV SONI  SC:    Because I  must  jus t  say  i t  i s  a  b i t  

awkward  fo r  me s i t t ing  as  a  leader  o f  the  lega l  team in  th is  

mat te r  to  be  s i t t ing  as  a  par t i c ipant ,  as  a  specta to r  in  th is  

mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  no  tha t  d i rec t i ve  s tands,  so  and 

as  I  ind ica ted  i t  m igh t  be  tha t  I  w i l l  dec ide  the  issue or  i t  

m igh t  be  tha t  I  m igh t  f ind  a  prac t ica l  so lu t ion  to  i t  bu t  tha t  

does not   -  obv ious ly  i f  I  f ind  a  prac t ica l  so lu t ion  to  i t  

anyone who wou ld  no t  have f i led  there  m ight  be  no  need to 20 

f i le  anyth ing  bu t  un t i l  everyone i s  adv ised to  the  cont ra ry  

tha t  d i rec t i ve  about  Judge Makhube le  f i l i ng  he r  wr i t ten  

submiss ions th i s  Fr iday and the  Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team 

f i l i ng  i t s  on  wr i t ten  submiss ions on  o r  be fo re  Wednesday  

next  week s tands .  
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 Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SONI  SC:    Chai rpe rson we submi t  i t  i s  an  impor tan t  

i ssue and I  have  not  d i scussed i t  w i th  the  o the r  members  

o f  the  lega l  team and the  Commiss ion  bu t  one can  expect  

tha t  th is  sor t  o f  ons laught  on  the  in tegr i t y  o f  members  o f  

the  lega l  team is  go ing  to  cont inue un less  the  paramete rs  

w i th in  wh ich  the  w i thdrawal  o r  recusa l  o r  whatever  one 

wants  to  ca l l  i t  i s  p roper ly  se t  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you very  much to  everybody fo r  

s tay ing  on  unt i l  th is  t ime.  We are  go ing  to  ad journ  and as  I  10 

sa id  the  mat te r  i s  postponed to  t he  17 t h  o f  Augus t  a t  ten 

o ’c lock ,  un less  the  t ime is  changed and the  da te  m ight  

change,  bu t  un t i l  there  i s  an  adv i ce  tha t  i t  has  changed i t  

w i l l  remain  the  17 t h .  

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:    A l l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 6  AUGUST 2019  


